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H I G H l I G H T S 

In 2012, total premiums amounted to NOK 1,517 million compared to  
NOK 1,202 million in 2011, an increase of 26 %. The growth occurred within 
the commercial lines of business (65 % of the growth), within Sweden and  
denmark (27 % of the growth) and within change of ownership insurance  
(8 % of the growth).

Protector entered the danish insurance market in 2012, at first focusing on 
the municipality sector.

Cost ratio decreased significantly in 2012. Gross cost ratio totalled  
12.7 % compared to 15.0 % in 2011. The decrease was driven by a strong top 
line development in combination with significant focus on cost efficiency in 
the commercial sector.

The combined ratio was 86.2 % in 2012. This is one of the best ratios among 
the Scandinavian non-life insurance companies.

The return on investments was 8.9 % compared to a negative return of  
2.3 % in 2011. Tightening of credit spreads and strong market for equities 
contributed to the strong result.

The operating profit amounted to NOK 393.5 million compared to  
NOK 82.9 million in 2011.

The company’s underlying profitability is strong. Existing and new profitability 
initiatives are expected to lead to continued strong technical results.

The Board proposes a dividend of NOK 1.20 per share.
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Protector commenced business January 2004, and has since experienced rapid growth.  
The company is highly focused on risk selection and marketing activities. In May 2007,  
Protector was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

The company’s “scalable business model” will be used as a 
foundation for further growth. Growth will be achieved without 
any significant accrual of costs due to the early investment in 
developing competence, routines and effective IT-systems.

VISIOn and BuSInESS COnCEPT
Protector will be the challenger to the established insurance 
companies. This position will be achieved through unique relations, 
good decision making and cost effective solutions. 

BuSInESS GOalS and STraTEGIES
Protector targets further profitable growth in the years ahead. 
Expanding into Sweden and denmark requires slightly higher 
level of investments, but combined with an increase in written 
premiums, the cost ratio is expected to remain stable in 2013 
and decrease thereafter.

The company’s ambition is to be:
 ›  Top 3 in Protector’s defined segments
 ›  Cost leader
 ›  Preferred by the brokers

The company’s long-term financial objectives are:
 ›  Growth rate of gross written premium: 10 %
 ›  Combined ratio for own account: 91 %
 ›  Return on solvency capital: 20 %

dISTrIBuTIOn STraTEGy
Protector has a distinct distribution strategy. All distribution 
is done through intermediaries. The commercial and public 
sector business is sold through insurance brokers. The same 

strategy applies for affinity programs. Change of ownership 
insurance is sold through selected real estate agents.

MarkET STraTEGy
Protector operates in non-marine insurance. The company has 
clearly defined market segments:

COMMErCIal lInES Of BuSInESS
Protector’s chosen segment consists of companies with annual 
insurance premiums above NOK 100,000. most of the clients 
have an annual insurance premium below NOK 1,000,000, but 
Protector also targets larger companies with annual written 
premiums between NOK 10 – 15 million. End of 2012 the customer 
list included about 3,000 companies, which is in line with 2011.

PuBlIC lInES Of BuSInESS
Protector has established itself as on of the three largest insurers 
in the Norwegian municipality sector. At the beginning of 2013 
the customer list consisted of 210 Norwegian, 80 Swedish and 
11 danish municipalities. The insurance policies consist of both 
complete and single product coverage.

ChanGE Of OwnErShIP InSuranCE
Change of ownership insurance covers the seller’s responsi-
bility for the estate’s material defects as specified by the sale 
of property law (”Avhendingsloven”). Protector is the market 
leader within change of ownership insurance with well above 
50 % market share. Protector has developed an effective value 
chain in change of ownership insurance and acquired the 
necessary critical mass to continue as a leading player in the 
years ahead.
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SwEdEn and dEnMark
Protector is expanding to Sweden and denmark, which are 
expected to contribute significantly to the future growth. The 
company established operative presence in both Stockholm 
and Copenhagen in 2012. At the end of 2012 these offices had 
8 and 6 employees respectively. The company follows the same 
business model in Sweden and denmark as in Norway, and 
has been well received by the local insurance brokers.

STraTEGy fOr ClaIMS handlInG
Protector has decided to have in-house claims handling, and 
now has a substantial competence in this field. By using skills 
and competences across claims handling, underwriting and 
sales, the company achieves high cost efficiency while  
maintaining high quality. About 60 employees worked with 
claims handling at the end of 2012.

IT-STraTEGy
Protector has a strategy of an in-house development of IT 
solutions. Hence, the company’s employees have developed 
the company’s systems for administration of insurance agree-
ments and claims handling. The systems have been developed 
with standardized tools and are accessible through web-based 
solutions. This facilitates the distribution of data and functions 
to partners and customers. Protector continuously seeks to 
utilise IT to increase daily work efficiency.

PErfOrManCE BaSEd CulTurE
Protector’s organization is based on highly qualified and 
experienced employees, which counted 125 people at the end 
of 2012. The majority has a long experience from the insurance 
industry. In addition to claims handling, large resources have 

been invested to increase the capacity and competence in the 
areas of underwriting, analysis, sales and service. 

Clearly defined goals have been established for all employees, 
and these goals are linked to performance contracts. On all 
levels of the organization, a structure has been created for 
regular employee appraisals. Protector has defined four core 
values, which are part of the criteria on which employees are 
assessed in this process: Trustworthy, Accommodative, Brave 
and Enthusiastic.

In 2012 Protector implemented a 270° process where all em-
ployees had an opportunity to give feedback on the compliance 
with the company’s values. The process was positive and con-
tributed to the further development of the company’s achieve-
ment-oriented culture. It also triggered further fine-tuning of 
the values in order to tailor them to our everyday life.

lEadErShIP dEVElOPMEnT
Protector completed a leadership development program for 
the company’s management and key personnel with manage-
ment responsibility in 2012. The program contained specific 
development goals for each participant, and a strengthening of 
the company’s management teams. The objective is to develop 
a congruent leadership in Protector. This involves developing 
a common understanding between managers and employees 
of the company’s core-value based leadership philosophy. The 
organization’s vigour and ability to realize the company’s objec-
tives will be strengthened by facilitating people’s opportunity 
to be aware of and explore their own basic core values and 
attitude.
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dITlEV dE VIBE VANAy (46)  
Chief Financial Officer. mr Vanay holds an mSc in Economics and Business 
Administration from the Norwegian School of management. He has more 
than 10 years of experience from the insurance and IT sectors, amongst 
others finance and business controlling in Storebrand, If and Tinde.
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KEy FIGuRES
[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011 2010 

Gross premiums written  1 517 017  1 202 479  1 010 991 
Gross premiums earned  1 464 244  1 176 965  987 716 
Gross claims incurred  (1 170 976)  (898 796)  (814 327)
Premiums earned for own account  1 107 433  903 478  792 342 
Claims incurred for own account  (940 094)  (729 843)  (679 046)
Net commission income  90 269  50 527  23 896 
Operating expenses  (104 677)  (91 541)  (91 130)
Other insurance income/costs  (127)  (1 409)  (2 507)
Net financial income  245 571  (51 388)  176 184 
Other income/costs  (4 904)  3 111  2 260 
Operating profit before security provision  393 472  82 935  221 999 
Change in security provision  (146 531)  (49 921)  (92 207)
Profit before tax  246 941  33 014  129 791 
Profit after tax  198 630  (7 573)  128 439 
Gross claims ratio (1) 80,0 % 76,4 % 82,4 %
Gross cost ratio (2) 7,7 % 10,0 % 11,9 %
Gross combined ratio (3) 87,7 % 86,3 % 94,4 %
Claims ratio for own account (4) 84,9 % 80,8 % 85,7 %
Cost ratio for own account (5) 1,3 % 4,5 % 8,5 %
Combined ratio for own account (6) 86,2 % 85,3 % 94,2 %
Retention rate (7) 75,6 % 76,8 % 80,2 %
Solvency capital (8) 1 086 448 741 288 822 817
Solvency margin (9) 304 % 219 % 236 %
Capital adequacy ratio (risk weighted) (10) 20 % 19 % 20 %
Operating profit before security provision etc per share (11) 4,76 1,00 2,69
Net profit after tax per share (12) 2,41  (0,09) 1,56

(1) Gross claims incurred in % of gross premiums earned
(2) Gross operating expenses in % of gross premiums earned
(3) Gross claims ratio + gross cost ratio
(4) Claims incurred for own account in % of premiums earned for own account
(5) Total operating expenses for own account in % of premiums earned for own account
(6) Claims ratio for own account + cost ratio for own account
(7) Premiums earned for own account in % of gross premiums earned
(8) Equity + security provision 
(9) Solvency margin is calculated according to the regulations of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway
(10) Net primary capital in % of risk weighted assets
(11) Operating profit before security provision divided by weighted number of shares
(12) Net profit after tax divided by weighted number of shares
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ThE PrOTECTOr SharE
In 2012, the Protector’s share price increased by 24.1% while the Oslo Benchmark Index increased 
by 15.4%. No dividends were paid in 2012. In 2011, the price of the Protector’s share increased by 
4.2% including dividends and decreased by 8.5% exclusive dividends, while the Oslo Benchmark 
Index decreased by 12.5%.

The average trading volume of Protector’s share on the Oslo Stock exchange was 39,698 shares 
in 2012, relative to 17,005 shares in 2011.

At the end of 2012, the Protector share was traded at NOK 13.40. The market value of total out-
standing shares was NOK 1,103.6 million.

dIVIdEnd POlICy 
Protector’s shareholders shall over time achieve competitive returns on their investment 
through a combination of cash dividends and an increase in the share price.

The company’s dividend policy is revised. The company’s target is to maintain a solvency margin 
(calculated according to the regulations of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway) of at 
least 250%. unless the need for capital suggests otherwise, it is the board’s target to distribute 
30-50% of the annual after-tax profit in a form of dividend. When the dividend is finalized, the 
decision will take into account the company’s results and capital requirement including adequate 
financial buffers and the necessary flexibility for growth and development.

Protector’s board normally proposes a dividend per share in connection with the publication 
of Protector’s preliminary annual results in February. The General meeting then considers the 
proposition in April or may, and the approved dividend payout to shareholders takes place in 
April or may. For shareholders not domiciled in Norway, tax may be withheld from dividend  
payments in accordance with applicable regulations.

SHAREHOldER INFORmATION
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Development in Protector's share
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The board proposes dividend of NOK 1.20 per share for the fiscal year 2012, totalling  
NOK 99.1 million. The Board considers the size of the dividend to be in line with the company’s 
financial position and the position in the market.

COMPany annOunCEMEnTS PuBlIShEd In 2012

SharEhOldErS and VOTInG rIGhTS
The company has issued a total of 86,155,605 shares and there is only one class of shares with 
equal rights for all shareholders. A list of Protector’s largest shareholders is provided in note 10 
in this report.

annual GEnEral MEETInG
The Annual General meeting of Protector Forsikring ASA will be held at the company’s premises 
at Filipstad Brygge 1, Oslo, on Thursday 25 April 2013 at 4.00 pm. The notice will be sent to all 
shareholders and to the Oslo Stock Exchange. The notice of the Annual General meeting will be 
also published on the company’s website www.protectorforsikring.no.

FINANCIAl  
CAlENdAR 2013
25 aPrIl 
Annual General meeting  
14 May  
Q1 results 2013  
12 July 
Q2 results 2013  
31 OCTOBEr 
Q3 results 2013  

19.12.2012 Financial calendar 2013 - Protector Forsikring ASA

01.11.2012 19% growth, strong result and increased guiding

29.10.2012 Presentation of results Q3 2012

22.10.2012 Oslo ABm - PROTCT01 PRO – New loan listing 22.10.2012

19.10.2012 Oslo ABm - PROTCT01 PRO – New loan listing 22.10.2012

28.09.2012 Notification of trade

16.07.2012 mandatory notification of trade

13.07.2012 Result Q2 2012: 38% growth, increased margins and increased guiding

09.07.2012 Presentation of results Q2 2012

18.06.2012 Increased volume guiding - 26 % growth in 2012, up from 22 % - margins still strong

07.05.2012 Q1 result: 28 % growth, increased guiding

02.05.2012 Presentation of results Q1 2012

02.05.2012 Annual overview

25.04.2012 Board of directors of Protector Forsikring ASA

25.04.2012 Annual general meeting held

04.04.2012 Notice of Annual General meeting

29.03.2012 PROTCT: Successful placement of Tier 2 bond

28.03.2012 Contemplated issuance of Tier 2 bond

29.02.2012 2011 result: 19 % growth, a strong technical result, weak return on investments

27.02.2012 Presentation of results Q4 2011

25.01.2012 Protector Forsikring ASA, 18 % growth in 2012

11.01.2012 Protector Forsikring ASA – breakthrough in Scandinavia
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At the start of 2012 we were relatively up-beat. There was 
almost no need to clean up among non-profitable customers 
or segments, while at the same time we saw that our cost ratio 
would fall significantly. We guided the market on 18 % top-line 
growth, a combined ratio of 88 % and lower cost ratio. The 
result: 26 % growth, a CR of 86.2 %, and a gross cost ratio of 
12.7 %. In addition, we had a very strong financial result with 
8.9 % return.

Our markets and our competitors have performed as expected. 
The situation in the real estate market is still very strong, and 
shows no sign of downwards correction. We are winning new 
customers and increasing our market share in the commercial 
segment. In the municipality sector, where the rates con-
tinue to be suppressed, we are able to maintain volume. Our 
market share is now over 20 % in the market for land-based 
and brokered insurance. We are number 3 in this market and 
are closing in on the top. Add to this a strengthened position in 
Sweden and a good first-year volume in denmark, and we are 
poised for very strong growth in 2013. We expect a continued 
profitable growth and increased market share in Norway, Swe-
den and denmark in 2013. At the same time our risk increases 
somewhat because it takes some time to ensure a profitable 
expansion in Sweden and denmark as well as due to the con-
tinued rate pressure in the Norwegian market, especially in the 
personnel insurance sector.

Our rESulT in 2012 is characterized by 4 features:
 ›  A very strong growth of 26 % in volume, driven by strong 

growth within commercial market in Norway and good  
volume development in Sweden and denmark

 ›  A strong financial result with a 8.9 % return
 ›  A net combined ratio of 86.2 %, beaten only by Gjensidige
 ›  A large decrease in gross cost ratio from 15.0 % to 12.7 %. 

Our cost ratio will not decrease further in 2013 as we have 
ridden hard through 2012

We are at the same time reinforcing our position as both a 
quality and cost leader in our chosen segments. This translates 
to decent prices for brokers and end-customers as well as 
profitability for Protector. A true win-win-win situation.

wIThIn ThE nOrwEGIan COMMErICal SEGMEnT our 
position is strengthening through impressive growth. We are 
growing and all the while remaining profitable. The situation is 
somewhat more complex within the municipality segment due 
to stronger competition on rates and volume, but Protector’s 
premium volume is stable with acceptable profits. The two  
segments together grew 26 % resulting in a volume of  
NOK 985 million.

The flow of tenders received from the large and medium  
insurance brokers has been strong. We have also managed to 
win several larger and very large customers in 2012 despite 
fierce competition in pricing. Our customers now include  
approximately 185 large/medium customers in the commercial 
segment, in addition to 210 municipalities. 

In sum 2013 has begun on a strong footing. Our guiding is for a 
more moderate growth and continued good profitability.

SuCCESSful dEVElOPMEnT In SwEdEn 
Our position in Sweden is strengthened, and the volume is 
growing in a satisfactory manner. Our growth is especially fast 
within auto sector where we already have more insured cars 
than in Norway. We are winning customers both in the munici-
pality sector and in the market for big/medium sized compa-
nies. The first quality survey is carried out among insurance 
brokers. A small sample was questioned, but we went straight 
to the top! Bravo Sweden! Currently we are lacking critical 
mass which leads to a high cost ratio. In 2014 we will be at a 
equal footing compared to our Swedish competitors.

Our team now count 12 persons, and will grow to 20 by the end 
of the year.

SuCCESSful EXPanSIOn TO dEnMark
In the beginning of 2012 we were ready to enter denmark. Focus 
so far has been on the municipality sector where we perceive 
that our competence and cost leadership gives as an edge in 
fighting for attractive customers. during 2012 the first 6 mu-
nicipalities came on board. Our perception is that the market’s 
leading brokers welcomes us wholeheartedly and that rumours 
of our “quality leadership” ran ahead of us. The start-up runs 

2012 – dOuBlE dIGIT GROWTH CONTINuES
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with aim of doing the same what we have been doing in Norway 
for 9 years while utilizing what we learned from our start-up 
project in Sweden:

 ›  Identical vision, business concept and values
 ›  Identical market – danish land-based and brokered insurance
 ›  Identical distribution – through close cooperation with the 

leading danish insurance brokers
 ›  Identical business goals – “top 3”, cost leadership, quality 

leadership and profitable growth
 ›  Somewhat faster recruitment in denmark relative to Sweden

The project has been accomplished quickly and at a low cost. 
Product lines, policy documents, IT systems, reassurance, etc. 
are in place. The start-up team of 6 persons is also operative 
with Copenhagen as a base.

The foundation for double-digit growth over the next 2-3 years 
is in place. We have great expectations Sweden and denmark!

wIThIn ChanGE Of OwnErShIP we have maintained a  
market share well above 50 %. Volume increased to  
NOK 426 million primarily as a result of a higher real estate 
prices in addition to some increase in the real estate markets 
turn-over rate. Our goal is to grow in line with the market 
which translates into a single-digit growth.
The number of claims is high, but stable, at approximately 

4,300 per annum. The number of lawsuits and litigations is 
very high at 509. We continue to achieve good results in court 
where wins, draws, and losses are distributed at 54 %, 27 % 
and 19 % respectively. Claims handling quality is very good, and 
the focus on claim mitigation and recourse has yielded further 
results. Our improved results within change of ownership 
insurance is attributable to this job. Our perception is that our 
counterparties and partners experience us as constructive and 
professional, and that our reputation in the market is further 
strengthened.

market surveys show, as in previous years, that our customers – 
and in particular those who have experienced a claim – are 
extraordinarily pleased with our quality. On a scale of 0-100 we 
receive an impressive 93 which is “all time high”. Our partners 
the real estate brokers also give us “thumbs up” in similar 
surveys. To this we are extremely grateful and we face the new 
year with a boost of energy and enthusiasm.

Finally, I want to take this opportunity to extend a thank you  
to all our cooperating insurance brokers and real estate 
brokers. We will work even harder in 2013 to make sure that 
your customers are satisfied. Thanks to our strong team of 125 
motivated employees in Oslo, Stockholm, and Copenhagen. I 
think we can say that our “winning culture” has been further 
developed in 2012 even if the pace during autumn hunting sea-
son was a tad too high. Our “lodestar”, larvik Håndballklubb, is 
as of writing yet again for semi-finals of the Champion league 
and has won series for the 15th time. “Heia larvik” – we have 
you as our example for our own team progress in 2013.

Sverre Bjerkeli
Chief Executive Officer

SVERRE BJERKElI (52) 
Chief Executive Officer. He has worked for Protector since 2004 and 
as CEO since 2006. Bjerkeli has more than 15 years of experience 
from the finance and insurance industry where he among other 
positions was director of private and small business insurance in 
Storebrand/If. He was central in establishing Storebrand Bank as well 
as being the executive manager and has international experience 
through CEO positions in Torrino and Ementor Norge. 
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STrOnG GrOwTh
Gross premiums written amounted to NOK 985 million in 2012 
compared to NOK 781 million in 2011, a growth of 26 %.  
The growth was observed within all product lines, but was 
strongest within personnel insurance where new sales were 
especially good. Protector’s competitiveness vying for the largest 
customers is growing: In 2012 exemplified with a personnel insur-
ance contract for Norway’s biggest employer – Helse Sør-Øst.

Protector offers all types of insurance to the  
commercial and public sector, with the exception  
of pension insurance.

2012 yielded an improved cost leadership, good profit- 
ability and increased competence within selected areas. 
This makes room for competitive pricing and increases the 
likelihood of winning new contracts as well as renewing 
existing ones. The renewal rate of existing customers was 
97 % in 2012, up by 9 percentage points from 2011. Good risk 
selection over time has increased the portfolios quality as 
well as the renewal rate. The company’s own thoroughness 
in the renewal process contributes to this as well.

dISTrIBuTIOn and MarkET
Protector cooperates extensively with the insurance brokers 
in the Norwegian market and has access to all relevant 
tenders through the year. A substantial share of tenders is 
channeled through the “Top 5” firms. In a survey conducted in 
the autumn of 2012 the brokers rated Protector as their most 
preferred insurance company for the sixth consecutive year.

Protector’s strategy of price differentiation and selective 
risk-taking on individual customers stands. It will ensure  
that the company can combine profitable growth both 
through sales and renewals. The intensity of market  
competition varies according to segments, and is strongest 
where we historically have experienced the thinnest  
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economic margins. Protector’s low cost level is the key to acquire profitable business in these  
segments. However, the key driver of profitable growth in 2012 has been the company’s ability  
to win new customers in other and more profitable segments.

OrGanIzaTIOn and COMPETEnCE
Protector continues its focus on increasing the competence of every employee and leader.  
leadership development in preceding years has resulted in a score of highly competent leaders 
and key personnel, as well as a satisfactory level of retainment.

In 2012 the Norwegian organization has supported Protector’s growth in Sweden and denmark 
with core skills and resources. The focus was on transferring the business model from Norway 
and adjusting it to Scandinavia.

Own routines and processes were developed further in 2012 with an improved follow-up on 
claims handling as the main measure. The measures have yielded significant results with 
respect to culture. Brokers score Protector’s claims handling at the top quality wise in the 2012 
release of the company’s yearly survey. We are proud of this, but we will continue to improve us 
further. Protector’s high level of quality in other key areas - sales, underwriting, service offerings -
is well documented through internal and external surveys.

PIA AlmVANG (38) – 
dIRECTOR OF COmmERCIAl ANd 
PuBlIC lINES OF BuSINESS
Employee since 01.06.2005. Almvang 
is educated actuary at the university 
of Oslo, and has a specialization with 
IT. Prior to joining Protector she had 
7 years of experience from Swiss Re 
and Trygg Hansa/Codan.

FREdRIK mESSEl (53) –  
– dIRECTOR ClAImS HANdlING, 
COmmERCIAl ANd PuBlIC lINES 
OF BuSINESS
Employee since 01.05.2007. messel 
holds a law degree from the university 
of Oslo. He held several positions in 
Gjensidige Forsikring, among these 
as director of claims handling and as 
the CEO of Gjensidige Nor Vekter-
service. He joined Protector from a 
position as managing director and 
partner in Nordic Claims  
management AS. 

Competitor 1

Competitor 2

Competitor 3

Competitor 4

Competitor 5

Protector 

Competitor 6

Competitor 7
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PrOTECTOr IS ThE PrEfErrEd InSurEr aMOnG BrOkErS (SaTISfaCTIOn SCalE 1-100)

152012 PROTECTOR ANNUAL REPORT



Gross written premiums in Sweden and Norway was NOK 105 million in 2012, up from  
NOK 22 million in 2011 (380 % increase). At the beginning of 2013 the company had about 90 
municipalities and 50 companies on the customers list with large customers including Århus 
municipality, postnor AB (the Swedish and danish postal services) as well as NIBE AB.

Protector follows the same business model in Sweden and denmark as in Norway. In both  
countries Protector has been well received by the brokers: in our first Swedish survey the  
brokers evaluated Protector ahead of all our competitors on quality.

delivering high-quality claims handling is one of Protectors competitive advantages. during the 
start-up phase in Sweden and denmark we have utilized external claim handlers until critical 
mass made in-house claims handling cost-effective. The process of transferring claims handling 
in-house is expected to be completed in Sweden, and well advanced in denmark, by the end of 2013.

Protector was operative in Sweden already in 2011, but have strengthened the organization 
further within underwriting and claims handling. At the end of 2012 we were 8 persons, up from 
4 at the beginning of the year.

In denmark operational presence was established in August 2012 by employing Flemming  
Conrad as Country manager. Since then the team has grown to 6 persons as of the end of 2012.

HANS dIdRING (33) – COuNTRy 
mANAGER SWEdEN
Employee since 01.07.2011.  
didring holds an mSc in Business 
Administration and Economics and a 
BSc in Computer Engineering. He has 
6 years of experience from various 
positions in If and länsförsäkringar. 
didring’s last position was as Head 
of Broker Sales and Service at If in 
Stockholm.

FlEmmING CONRAd (56) –  
COuNTRy mANAGER dENmARK
Employee since 01.08.2012. IEP In-
sead, Handelshøjskolen, merkonom 
(O), Forsikringsakademiet. He has 38 
years of experience in insurance sec-
tor from Hafnia, Codan, Provinzial, 
Trekroner and Nykredit. His latest 
position was director in Gjensidige’s 
branch in denmark.

HENRIK WOld HØyE (30) –  
dIRECTOR FOR PuBlIC SECTOR
Employee since 01.07.2007. Høye 
holds an mSc from university of  
Colorado in Boulder, uSA.
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Change of ownership is sold solely through real estate brokers, 
and Protector has maintained the relationship through proper 
information, efficient support routines and a high level of quality 
in claims handling. Protector’s market share exceeds 50 %.

GOOd GrOwTh In VOluME
The turnover of real estate was high in 2012 and was in line 
with 2011. Both sales and turnover remained at a very high 
level in 2012. Prices increased by 7 % year-to-year and  
contributed to a 7 % increase in written premium from NOK 400 
million in 2011 to NOK 426 million in 2012. Hit ratio was stable 
at about 80 %.

SalES and SuPPOrT
Protector has worked purposefully to become the quality 
leader in the change of ownership insurance market. The  
company’s goal is to provide our real estate brokers with a  
service that lets them focus on their clients. Protector focuses 
on providing the necessary information through well- 
established routines and direct availabilty through our  
dedicated call and support center.

during 2102 Protector provided professional courses and  
training to most of the 2,500 brokers that form the company’s 
sales channel. Professional courses regarding the sale of  
property law, broker responsibility and the calculation of living 
area are accepted as a part of the brokers’ mandatory  
continuing education by the Financial Supervisory Authority  
of Norway.

By the end of 2012 12 employees were working with sales and 
support towards the real estate brokers.

Protector regularly asks the real estate brokers to evaluate 
the company. In the latest survey the brokers scores Protector 
highly in all areas. On the particular question, “How satisfied 
are you with Protector as a distributor of change of ownership 
insurance”, Protector receives a score of 88 out of a possible 100.

In 2012 Protector maintained its status as market 
leader. The company’s most important brokers are 
Eiendomsmegler 1, Privatmegleren and krogsveen. 
The larger real estate chains grew in line with or 
above the market trend, while the smaller chains 
reduced their market share.
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hIGh qualITy In ClaIMS handlInG
Approximately 4,300 claims were reported through 2012,  
a decrease of 3.5 % relative to 2011. The number of legal pro-
cesses was over 500 which is somewhat higher than in 2011.  
The underlying trend is a high, but stable, level of conflict. 

Quality in claims handling is a high priority, and the department 
held a high level of quality in 2012. 80 % of the reported claims 
are resolved  and communicated to the claimant within 10 days 
of receiving their documentation. The share of claimants who do 
not accept the company’s conclusion is low.

At the end of 2012 Protector had a running portfolio of 1,700 
claims and strong operative control supported by monthly  
reporting on each claims handlers’ progress. This results in a 
positive development in time usage, lower returns and a better 
pitch when communicating decisions.

The number of court rulings in 2012 increased to 238 from 169 
in 2011. The ratio of settlements to court rulings was ca 50 % in 
2012, a significant reduction from 65 % in 2011. The share of 
court rulings won completely or partially was 81 % in 2012  
relative to 65 % in 2011. 

Protector’s conclusion was upheld in 80 % of claims brought  
before the independent appeal bodies KKFE or FinKn in 2012. 
This is a strong result and supports our conclusion that the  
company’s claims handling holds a high level of quality.

Our technical survey team began to find its form in 2012. Their 
technical competence contributes to better decision making 
within claims handling and better solutions – for claimants as 
well. 

The share of real estate sales where at technical survey is pro-
vided remains stable, but the quality is still very low. Protector 
is active in several areas in order to improve the quality, among 
them contributing to a new Norwegian standard in the field.

Protector focuses on a correct claims handling. This means that 
costs shall be allocated to whoever was responsible for incurring 
the claim. In 2012 Protector achieved very good results within 
claims reducing measures and recourse. We are evaluating the 
basis for allocating responsibility to the third party in over 90 % 
of the cases.

Protector regularly asks our end customers to evaluate the 
company. In the latest survey the home sellers scores Protector 
highly in all areas. On the particular question, “What is the 
probability of choosing Protector in your next sale”, Protector 
receives a score of 93 out of a possible 100.
 

rEPuTaTIOn
Change of ownership insurance has since its inception received 
a lot of negative media attention, thus as a market leader  
Protector has also received most of the media’s attention.  
In this respect, 2012 have been a quiet year, and requests have 
mostly related to Protector’s viewpoints from an expert capacity.

Our surveys show that home sellers – who are purchasing the 
insurance, and thus are our customer – are extremely satis-
fied. The same can be said about the real estate brokers, which 
again give Protector and the product a very high score.
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mERETE C BERNAu (46) –  
dIRECTOR OF CHANGE OF  
OWNERSHIP INSuRANCE 
Employee since 01.09.2005. Bernau 
holds a law degree from the uni-
versity of Oslo and is an authorized 
lawyer. She has extensive experience 
from Storebrand/If as a lawyer within 
liability insurance. A board member 
in Finansklagenemda.

ThE rEal ESTaTE BrOkErS arE VEry SaTISfIEd wITh PrOTECTOr (SCalE 1-100)

0 20 40 60 80 100

0 20 40 60 80 100

ThE rEal ESTaTE BrOkErS arE VEry SaTISfIEd wITh PrOTECTOr (SCalE 1-100)

How satisfied are you with  
Protector as a supplier of COI? 

To what extent has Protector redeemed 
your expectations to the PROduCT COI? 

What is the probabilty of you  
recommending COI from Protector to 

your next client?

When asked for your opinion on  
Protector, to what extent will you speak  

of the company in positive terms?

What is the value of COI for you as a real 
estate broker?

What is the value of COI for your client?

2011

2012

2010

2011

2009

2010

Probability of choosing  
Protector in your next sale   

Clear and understandable information

Accommodativeness

Trustworthiness

Necessity of the product

Security of the product

Handling of the claim

Overall impression of Protector
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dIRECTORS’ REPORT

Protector forsikring aSa is a general insurance company (P&C) serving non-marine 
industries. The company’s focus is towards the commercial and public sectors and 
the affinity insurance market. Protector was founded 2003 and obtained a license to 
engage in general insurance the same year. The company commenced its operations 
in 2004 and was listed on Oslo Stock Exchange in May 2007. Protector entered the 
Swedish insurance market in 2011 and the danish insurance market in 2012.  
Protector’s headquarters are located in Oslo.  

ThE MaIn fEaTurES CharaCTErISInG 2012 arE:
> Strong growth within the commercial lines of business
> Start up in the danish market
> Strong decline in cost ratio
> A strong technical result
> A strong return on investments

PrEMIuM InCOME
In 2012, gross premiums written increased by 26% to a total of NOK 1,517 million. Gross  
premiums earned increased by NOK 287.3 million to a total of NOK 1,464.2 million. Premiums 
earned for own account were NOK 1,107.4 million, an increase of 23% compared to 2011.

The company had especially strong growth within commercial and public sectors, where gross 
premiums written amounted to NOK 958.8 million, compared to NOK 651.1 million in 2011 (47% 
growth).The growth is mainly due to high new sales within the commercial sector, where the 
growth in gross written premiums was 58%. New businesses in Sweden and denmark consti-
tuted 13% points of the total growth within commercial and public sector. In 2012 growth in the 
Norwegian municipality sector was 15%, and the company strengthens its position as number  
3 in this market. In the public sector, Protector continues to experience strong competition. 
Rates within the combined branches are low, and pricing of the personal products is more  
aggressive. It is expected that the competitive situation will continue throughout 2013. The 
company had 41 Swedish and danish municipalities on the customer list at the end of the year. 
Gross written premiums in Sweden and denmark constituted NOK 105.2 million, whereof 59% of 
business came from the public sector and 41% from the commercial sector.

Within the affinity segment, gross written premiums amounted to NOK 558.2 million, compared 
to NOK 551.4 million in 2011. The weak growth is due a non-renewal of one bigger affinity  
arrangement in the commercial sector. Premium income within change of ownership insurance, 
the company’s largest affinity program, totaled to NOK 426.3 million, a growth of 7% compared 
to 2011. The growth is driven by increased property prices and increased total number of  
insurance policies sold. Protector’s market share is approximately unchanged in 2012 and is  
estimated to be well above 50%. The total number of real estate sellers who buy change of  
ownership insurance is stable. In 2012 hit ratio was approximately 80%.

JOSTEIn SørVOll  
ChaIrMan Of ThE BOard
 
Age: 63
Education: Actuary from the 
university of Oslo (1973) 
Work experience: Private  
investor, CEO in Gabler  
Wassum AS (2009-2010),
CEO in Protector Forsikring 
ASA (2003-2006), CEO in  
Norske liv AS (1992-1998),
Executive positions in the 
Storebrand group (1976-1990)
director of Protector since: 
2006.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board,   
Gabler Rådgivning AS 
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.
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rOlf TOllE 
BOard MEMBEr, dEPuTy 
ChaIrMan Of ThE BOard
 
Age: 65
Education: dipl. Pol. Free 
university of Berlin (F.u) 
Work experience: Franchise 
Performance director I lloyds 
(2003-2009), Chief underwriting 
Officer Faraday underwriting 
(2001-2003), CEO in Europe 
Re (1990-2001), CEO in  
Polaris (1987-1990), Head of 
Reinsurance Storebrand Re 
(1975-1987)
director of Protector since: 
2011.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Board member in Beazley 
Furlonge Plc., Beazley 
Furlonge ltd., member in an 
audit committee for Beazley 
ltd. and Plc., leader in Risk 
and Reg committee in BFl
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.

EVa rEdhE rIddErSTad 
BOard MEMBEr
 

Age: 50
Education: mSc in Economics 
and Business Administration, 
Stockholm School of  
Economics (1988)
Work experience: Senior  
advisor, yggdrasil AB (2008-)
Executive Chairman, Erik 
Penser Fondkommission 
(2006-2008), CEO, Erik  
Penser Fondkommission 
(2004-2006), Founder and 
CEO, mercurius Financial 
Communications AB  
(1994-2000), Corporate 
finance, Equity research, 
Investor relations at Investor 
AB (1988-1994)
director of Protector since: 
2012.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board, Spago 
AB and FTrack AB. Board 
member in mQ AB, Probi 
AB, Pled Pharma AB,  Axel 
Christiernsson International 
AB and Temaplan Asset  
management Holding AB
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.

 

rESulT 
Operating profit before changes in security provisions and tax 
amounted to NOK 393.5 million, compared to NOK 82.9 million 
in 2011. The return on the company’s average solvency capital 
after tax amounted to 38 %, compared to 5% in 2011.  
The improvement of the result is due to the strong return on  
investments.

The company’s claims ratio for own account increased from 
80.8% in 2011 to 84.9% in 2012. The cost ratio was 1.3%, down 
from 4.5% in 2011. The development in claims and cost ratio re-
sulted in a combined ratio of 86.2% compared to 85.3% in 2011.

A weaker claims result is due to a somewhat weaker develop-
ment within the commercial and public lines of business. This 
is partially a result of lower run-off gains and partially as a 
result of the strengthening of the reserves. All products within 
the commercial and public lines of business show satisfactory 
profitability. The trend within change of ownership is positive, 
and the product shows sound profitability in 2012.

The cost ratio is decreasing significantly. Gross cost ratio (in-
cluding claims handling costs) was 12.7% compared to 15.0% in 
2011.The result is driven by a very strong topline development 
as well as significant focus on efficiency and costs within the 
commercial segment. Within change of ownership insurance, 
the manning in the claims handling department was strength-
ened as a result of increased focus on quality and reduced 
claim costs. The stated target of a 6 percentage-points reduc-
tion in the cost ratio within the Norwegian commercial sector 
(over a 2-year period) was achieved well ahead of schedule. The 
total cost ratio in the company is expected to flatten out in 2013.

Net income from investments totaled NOK 245.6 million or 
8.9% in 2012, compared to a negative result of NOK 51.4 million 
or -2.3% in 2011. Credit spread tightening and a strong market 
for equities contributed to the good result. Return on the fixed 
income portfolio totaled NOK 166.2 million or 6.8% in 2012. In 
2011 the return on the fixed income portfolio was NOK 52.6 
million or 3.0%. The return on equities was NOK 79.5 million 
or 25.2% compared to a negative return of NOK 104 million or 
-20.4% in 2011.
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The growth in premiums for own account requires higher 
statutory security provisions. In 2012, the security provisions 
increased by NOK 146.5 million, from NOK 356.8 million in 
2011 to NOK 503.3 million in 2012.

Net profit for Protector Forsikring ASA amounted to  
NOK 198.6 million. 

The financial statements are presented on the assumption of 
meeting the requirement of a going concern. No circumstances 
which are significant for the evaluation of the company’s  
position and results have occurred following the end of the 
fiscal year. 

CaPITal and SharEhOldEr ISSuES
Protector’s solvency margin at year-end 2012 was 304%. The 
capital adequacy ratio was 20% against a minimum require-
ment of 8%. Note 20 provides a more detailed description of the 
calculation of the solvency margin and capital adequacy ratio.

In 2012 the company has issued a subordinated loan of NOK 150 
million. The purpose of the loan is to strengthen the company’s 
capital adequacy during a period the company expects signifi-
cant growth. The loan is described in more details in note 20.

At the end of 2012, the company’s solvency capital amounted to 
NOK 1,086.4 million whereof NOK 583.2 million in total equity 
(before proposed cash dividend) and NOK 503.3 million in secu-
rity provision.

The company’s free equity capital amounted to NOK 206.6  
million at the end of 2012.

Net cash flow from operational activities, before investments 
in financial assets, was positive at NOK 602.6 million. Net cash 
flow was NOK 60.2 million.

The Board of directors regards the company’s capital situation 
and financial solvency as very satisfactory.

The company actively prepares for Solvency II. Current calcula-
tions indicate that Protector Forsikring has a satisfactory level 
of solvency under the proposed regulations.

At the end of 2012 the company has 3,570,661 own shares, 
which is unchanged from the previous year.

Protector Forsikring ASA had 2,619 shareholders per 31.12.2012.

ElSE BuGGE fOuGnEr
BOard MEMBEr 

Age: 67
Education: Cand.jur.  
(law degree) from the  
university of Oslo (1971)
Work experience: Partner 
in Advokatfirmaet Hjort dA 
(from 1991), Amanuensis at 
the university of Oslo (1990-
1991), minister of Justice, 
Justice department (1989-
1990), Partner in Advokat-
firmaet Hjort dA (1975-1989),
lawyer in Advokatfirmaet 
Hjort dA (1972-1975)
director of Protector since: 
2011.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board, 
Kommunalbanken and Ek-
sportkreditt. Board member 
in Aberdeen Eiendomsfond 
Norge II ASA, Aker Kværner 
Holding AS 
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.

ErIk G. BraaThEn
BOard MEMBEr 

Age: 57
Education: master of  
International management
Work experience: Private 
investor (from 1999),
CEO Braathens Safe ASA 
(1989-1999), Chairman of the 
Board, Norwegian Air Shuttle 
(2004-2009)
director of Protector since: 
2009.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board, 
Holmen Fondsforvaltning 
ASA. Board member in Fly 
leasing ltd., Cenzia AS, Peer 
Gynt Tours AS, North Sea 
PSV, Opra Technologies ASA. 
deputy board member in  
Pareto Bank ASA.
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.
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dIVIdEnd
The Board of directors proposes a cash dividend of NOK 1.20 
per share for 2012, totalling NOK 99.1 million. The Board  
considers the size of the dividend to be in line with the  
company’s financial position and the position in the market.  
The proposed dividend is included in other equity.

The company’s dividend policy is revised. The company’s target 
is to maintain a solvency margin (calculated according to the 
regulations of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway) of 
at least 250%. unless the need for capital suggests otherwise, 
it is the board’s target to distribute 30-50% of the annual after-
tax profit in a form of dividend. When the dividend is finalized, 
the decision will take into account the company’s results and 
capital requirement including adequate financial buffers and 
the necessary flexibility for growth and development.

rISk faCTOrS
Protector is exposed to various types of risk through its  
business. Continuous monitoring and active risk manage-
ment is an integrated core area in Protector’s activities and 
organisation. The main risk factors, of which the company are 
exposed to are: market risk, insurance risk, credit risk,  
liquidity risk, operational risk and strategic risk. 

Market risk
Protector is exposed to losses due to changes in observ-
able variable market factors as interest and equity prices. At 
the end of 2012, the company’s investment portfolio totalled 
NOK 3,193 million, with 91.1 % invested in interest-bearing 
instruments and 8.9 % in equities and equity funds. The equity 
share was reduced by 8.9 percentage-points. This is due to 
reallocation from equities to the fixed income portfolio as well 
as new investments being allocated to the interest-bearing 
instruments. The duration (interest rates) in the fixed income 
portfolio was 0.88 years (inclusive bank deposits) at the end 
of 2012, an increase from 0.26 years at the end of 2011. The 
interest rate risk is increased, but still considered as low.

The Board of directors determines the company’s investment 
strategy annually. The boards sets the investment strategy in 
accordance to the company’s ability to carry risks. The limits 
are set both on a aggregate level and relating to different 
investment instruments. The consolidated market risk is 
measured and is reported to the Board each quarter. The total 
market risk on the company’s financial position is considered 
to be acceptable. 

View note 3 of the accounts for further information regarding 
interest risk and stress tests.

GIudITTa COrdErO-MOSS
BOard MEMBEr 

Age: 51
Education: Cand.Jur. (law 
degree) from the university of 
la Sapienza (1984), Roma.
Ph.d. in law from the  
Russian Academy of Science, 
moscow (1995). dr.juris at the 
university of Oslo (1999)
Work experience: leader in 
the Institute of Private law 
(2012). Professor in the  
university of Oslo. legal 
practioner and partner in the 
law firm lindh Stabell Horten 
dA (2002). legal practioner 
and partner in the law firm 
Hjort dA (1999-2001).
lawyer at Norsk Hydro ASA, 
Norway (1989-1999). lawyer at 
FIAT S.p.A., Italy (1986-1989)
director of Protector since: 
2005.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board,  
Norwegian Association for 
Comparative law. Judge, 
Administrative Tribunal,  
European Bank for Recon-
struction and development
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.

JørGEn STanG  
hEffErMEhl
STyrEMEdlEM 

Age: 63
Education: Cand.Jur. (law 
degree) from the university of 
Oslo (1975), Supreme Court 
Attorney
Work experience: Partner in 
Advokatfirmaet SImONSEN 
Vogt Wiig AS (1980-present)
Extensive national and  
international experience  
within the field of business law
director of Protector since: 
2003.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
Chairman of the Board, 
Quorum Verdi Invest AS and 
Verpetangen AS. member of 
the board in Quorum Invest 
AS, Nexen Exploration Norge 
AS, Agdesidens Rederi AS. 
CEO of ditlev-Simonsen AS
Regarded as an independent 
director: yes.
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frEdrIk h. øyan 
BOard MEMBEr (ElECTEd 
By ThE EMPlOyEES)

Age: 32
Education: B. Sc.  
management (2005), m. Sc. 
Risk management (2006)
Work experience: Chief  
underwriter P&C and  
Reinsurance in Protector  
Forsikring ASA (from 2009), 
Account Executive in Willis 
ltd, london (2006 – 2008)
director of Protector since: 
2012.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
None

The company’s securities are managed by Alfred Berg Kapital 
Forvaltning, Arctic Fund management, Carnegie Kapital-
forvaltning, danske Capital, Nordea Investment management, 
Pareto Kapitalforvaltning and Storebrand Kapitalforvaltning.
 
Insurance risk
The insurance risk is adjusted to the company’s accessible 
risk capital. Risk related to insurance operations is limited 
by the company’s comprehensive reinsurance programme 
with well-established reinsurers. The limits for the reinsur-
ance programme are determined by the need to protect equity 
against claims beyond an acceptable amount, as well as the 
need to reduce fluctuations of results over time. Through the 
reinsurance programmes, the company has satisfactory cov-
erage against catastrophic incidents and large losses. At the 
end of 2012 the retention rate was 75.6 % down from 76.8 % in 
2011. The retention rate is decreasing due to a strong growth 
within products with high reinsurance coverage. The retention 
rate is expected to slightly increase in 2013.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of incurring losses when counterpar-
ties fail to meet their obligations. Furthermore, it includes the 
risk of changes in general credit prices, the so-called credit-
spread risk. Protector is exposed to the credit risk through 
its investments in interest-bearing instruments and through 
reinsurance.

The company has established limits for various issuers of 
securities and defined a minimum level for the credit rating 
within the various groups of issuers. limits for credit duration 
are also established. In 2012, the credit duration on the fixed 
income portfolio has been increased from 2 to 3.1 years. There 
have not been any significant changes in the average credit 
rating for the issuers in the portfolio, where the average rating 
is BBB.

Outstanding claims with the company’s reinsurers represent 
a credit risk. All Protector’s reinsurers have got a very good 
rating and their rating is monitored closely.

The total credit risk in the company is regarded as acceptable.

liquidity risk
In P & C insurance, the liquidity risk is in general low since 
premiums are due for payment before claims have to be paid. 
Protector’s premium income is, in the main, placed in cash 
accounts or liquid securities ensuring that Protector will be 
able to procure the necessary liquidity at all times. Thus, the 
company’s liquidity risk is considered low.

MarIannE lanGrInd 
kVanVIk
BOard MEMBEr (ElECTEd 
By ThE EMPlOyEES)

Age: 39
Education: Cand.jur. from 
university of Oslo (1999)
Work experience: lawyer 
in Protector Forsikring ASA 
(2005 – d.d). lawyer in  
Advokatfirma Hersløv Bull 
& Co 2001-2005. Associate 
lawyer in Hersløv & Co  
(1999-2001)
director of Protector since: 
2012.
Other essential tasks in  
companies and organizations: 
member of Finansklagenemnda 
Eierskifte
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Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of losses because of insufficient or 
failing internal processes or systems, human error or external 
events. Today, the operational risk is documented in connec-
tion with the work to fulfil the “regulation on risk management 
and internal control”. The fundamental feature in this work is 
that the individual manager carries out a process to identify the 
main risks before and after measures have been implemented. 
In 2012, this work did not discover risks that were not satisfac-
torily controlled. The operational risk is regarded as low.

Strategic risk
Strategic risk relates to Protector’s choice of strategic position, 
including distribution, IT-strategy, flexibility relative to the mar-
ket, business partners, reputation and changes in the market 
conditions. Protector’s strategy is continuously assessed 
against results, fluctuations in markets and competition and 
changes in framework conditions. Elements that are critical to 
achieve the company’s goals are subject to special monitoring.

OrGanISaTIOn and wOrk EnVIrOnMEnT
The company had 125 employees at year-end 2012. This is an 
increase of 17 employees during the year. 8 of the company’s 
125 employees are working in our office in Sweden and 6 in 
denmark. Great emphasis is placed on organisational develop- 
ment and further development of employees as well as recruit-
ment of highly qualified personnel. Through 2012, the compa-
ny’s core competence and capacity are strengthened to enable 
continued growth.

Of the company’s employees, 53% are women and 47% are 
men. The company’s management team comprises two women 
and six men. The Board of directors comprises four women 
and five men. No special measures have been implemented to 
promote equal opportunities. 

Sick leave amounted to 4.6% in 2012compared to 3.6% in 2011. 
No occupational accidents or injuries were reported during 
2012. The company’s business activity does not pollute the 
external environment.

COrPOraTE GOVErnanCE
Protector established its own principles of corporate gov-
ernance in 2007. The Board has an annual review of these 
principles. The principles will contribute to value maximizing 
for shareholders over time and increased confidence in the 
company through an open corporate culture and good reputa-
tion. The principles of corporate governance mainly follow the 
laws and regulations the company is subject to. Furthermore, 
the principles are based on the Norwegian Code of Corporate 
Governance of 23 October 2012. For a more detailed descrip-
tion of the Protector’s corporate governance, see a separate 
article in this report.

OuTlOOk
The company expects continued growth in 2013 despite strong 
competition both in the commercial and the public sectors. 
The expected growth is based on a very good start in 2013, a 
very good start up in Sweden and denmark, a continued good 
access to profitable business in Norway as well as expected 
market growth in the change of ownership insurance market 
(increased real estate prices and increased turnover).

The company’s underlying profitability is strong. Existing and 
new profitability initiatives are expected to lead to the continued 
good technical results.

Normally there is a great deal of uncertainty regarding for-
ward-looking matters, but in the Board’s opinion the company 
is well-equipped to meet the competition in the years to come.
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Oslo, 8 march 2013
The Board of directors of Protector Forsikring ASA

 Translation – not to be signed 

  Jostein Sørvoll    Rolf Tolle    Else Bugge Fougner  
        (Chairman)

  Erik G. Braathen    Eva Redhe Ridderstad  Giuditta Cordero-moss 

  Jørgen Stang Heffermehl   Fredrik Øyan   marianne Kvanvik  

  Sverre Bjerkeli 
       (CEO)
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PROFIT ANd lOSS ACCOuNT

[1.000 nOk] notes 2012 2011

PREmIumS INCOmE

Gross premiums written  1 517 017  1 202 479 

Premiums written ceded  (347 394)  (272 868)

Change in gross provision for unearned premiums  (52 773)  (25 514)

Change in reinsurers’ share of provision for gross unearned premiums  (9 417)  (619)

Earned premiums for own account 4  1 107 433  903 478 

allocation of investment return  transferred from non-technical account 1  24 663  42 456 

Other insurance related income  3 929  2 700 

ClAImS

Gross claims paid  (753 826)  (597 186)

Reinsurers’ share of claims paid  166 453  127 447 

Change in provision for gross outstanding claims  (417 150)  (301 610)

Reinsurers’ share of change in provision for gross outstanding claims  64 429  41 506 

Claims incurred for own account 4  (940 094)  (729 843)

INSuRANCE RElATEd OPERATING EXPENSES

Sales expenses 14  (8 245)  (25 592)

Insurance related administrative expenses 11,15-17  (104 677)  (91 541)

Commissions from the reinsurers 4  98 515  76 119 

Total operating expenses for own account  (14 408)  (41 013)

Other insurance related expenses  (4 055)  (4 109)

Technical result before changes in security provision etc.  177 467  173 668 

CHANGES IN SECuRITy PROVISIONS ETC.

Change in security provision 4  (146 531)  (49 921)

Technical result  30 936  123 747 

NET FINANCIAl INCOmE

Interest income and dividends from financial assets  113 861  73 992 

unrealised gains and reversed unrealised losses on financial assets  43 118  (127 770)

Gains and losses from realisation of financial assets  89 798  3 376 

Administration expenses  (1 205)  (987)

Total net financial income 18  245 571  (51 388)

allocated return on investment transferred to technical account 1  (24 663)  (42 456)

Other income  3 887  3 111 

Other costs  (8 790)  -   

non-technical result  216 005  (90 734)

Profit before tax  246 941  33 014 

Tax 12  (48 311)  (40 587)

PrOfIT fOr ThE yEar  198 630  (7 573)

AllOCATION OF PROFIT/lOSS

Transferred to/from other equity  (198 630)  7 573 

Total allocations  (198 630)  7 573 

Earnings per share 19 2,41 (0,09)

diluted earnings per share 19 2,41 (0,09)
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BAlANCE SHEET

[1.000 nOk] notes 2012 2011

aSSETS

INTANGIBlE ASSETS 

Other intangible assets 5  8 908  9 720 

Total intangible assets  8 908  9 720 

FINANCIAl ASSETS 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Shares  285 059  418 971 

Securities, bonds etc  2 843 465  1 902 502 

Other financial assets  64 295  33 277 

Total financial assets 3,7  3 192 820  2 354 751 

REINSuRERS’ SHARE OF GROSS TECHNICAl PROVISIONS

Reinsurers’ share of provisions for unearned premiums  68 625  56 334 

Reinsurers’ share of provisions for claims  220 419  156 207 

Total reinsurers share of gross technical provisions 4  289 045  212 541 

RECEIVABlES

Policyholders  17 405  7 414 

Intermediaries  54 395  58 311 

Other receivables  3 167  4 049 

Total receivables 8  74 967  69 774 

OTHER ASSETS

Tangible fixed assets 6  9 336  4 297 

Cash and bank deposits 9  141 890  112 685 

Assets of tax 12  -    3 302 

Total other assets  151 226  120 284 

PREPAId EXPENSES ANd ACCRuEd INCOmE

Other prepayments and accrued income  48 596  32 735 

Total prepaid expenses and accrued income  48 596  32 735 

TOTal aSSETS  3 765 562  2 799 804 
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BAlANCE SHEET

[1.000 NOK] Notes 2012 2011

EQuITy ANd lIABIlITIES

SHAREHOldERS’ EQuITy 

Share capital [86.155.605 shares at NOK 1] 10  86 156  86 156 

Own shares 10  (3 571)  (3 571)

Other paid-in equity  4 847  4 847 

Total paid-in equity  87 432  87 432 

EARNEd EQuITy

Natural perils fund  21 240  30 958 

Guarantee scheme  53 167  45 117 

Other equity  421 311  221 014 

Total earned equity  495 719  297 088 

Total equity 20  583 151  384 520 

Subordinated loan 3,20  148 125 -

GROSS TECHNICAl PROVISIONS

Provision for unearned premiums  226 786  174 631 

Provision for claims outstanding 2  2 017 886  1 601 249 

Security provision  503 298  356 767 

Total gross technical provisions 4  2 747 969  2 132 647 

PROVISIONS FOR OTHER lIABIlITIES

Pension liabilities 11  12 384  9 787 

deferred tax 12  11 462 -   

Total provisions for other liabilities  23 847  9 787 

OTHER lIABIlITIES

liabilities related to direct insurance operations  7 716  12 163 

liabilities related to reinsurance operations  130 515  116 320 

Other liabilities  53 580  74 947 

Total other liabilities 13  191 812  203 430 

ACCRuEd EXPENSES ANd dEFERREd INCOmE

Other accrued expenses and deferred income  70 659  69 420 

Total accrued expenses and deferred income  70 659  69 420 

TOTal lIaBIlITIES and EquITy  3 765 562  2 799 804 

Oslo, 8 march 2013
The Board of directors of Protector Forsikring ASA

 Translation – not to be signed 

  Jostein Sørvoll    Rolf Tolle    Else Bugge Fougner  
        (Chairman)

  Erik G. Braathen    Eva Redhe Ridderstad  Giuditta Cordero-moss 

  Jørgen Stang Heffermehl   Fredrik Øyan   marianne Kvanvik  

  Sverre Bjerkeli 
       (CEO)
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CASH FlOW STATEmENT

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

CASH FlOW FROm OPERATIONS  

Paid in premiums  1 496 208  1 178 545 

Paid claims  (757 564)  (502 149)

Paid reinsurance  (91 039)  18 717 

Paid operating expenses including commissions  (114 587)  (174 119)

Interest / dividend income  118 656  76 619 

Net invested in financial assets  (672 788)  (434 738)

Payable tax  (49 113) -

net cash flow from operations  (70 227)  162 874 

CASH FlOW FROm INVESTmENT ACTIVITIES

Invested in inventory  (6 444)  (2 051)

Invested in intangible assets  (4 910)  (6 196)

net cash flow from investment activities  (11 354)  (8 247)

CASH FlOW FROm FINANCIAl ACTIVITIES

dividend paid -  (123 877)

Proceeds from subordinated loan  148 125 -

Interest payments on subordinated loan  (6 321) -

net cash flow from financial activities  141 804  (123 877)

nET CaSh flOw fOr ThE PErIOd  60 223  30 749 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  60 223  30 749 

Cash and cash equivalents opening balance  145 962  115 213 

CaSh and CaSh EquIValEnTS ClOSInG BalanCE  206 185  145 962 
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STATEmENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITy

[1.000 NOK] Share 
Capital Own shares Other paid 

in equity
Natural 

perils fund
Guarantee 

scheme Other equity Total equity

Total equity at 31.12.2010  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  41 509  38 272  348 757  515 971 

1.1- 31.12.2011

Paid dividend  (123 877)  (123 877)

Total equity before the result of the year  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  41 509  38 272  224 880  392 093 

Total result after tax before fund provisions  (7 573)  (7 573)

Total equity before fund provisions  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  41 509  38 272  217 307  384 520

Provisions to obliged fund gross  (10 552)  6 844  3 707 -

Total equity at 31.12.2011  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  30 958  45 117  221 014  384 520 

1.1- 31.12.2012

Total equity before the result of the year  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  30 958  45 117  221 014  384 520 

Total result after tax before fund provisions  198 630  198 630 

Total equity before fund provisions  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  30 958  45 117  419 644  583 151 

Provisions to obliged fund gross  (9 718)  8 051  1 667 - 

Total equity at 31.12.2012  86 156  (3 571)  4 847  21 240  53 167  421 311  583 151 
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ACCOuNTS ANd NOTES
 nOTE 1 aCCOunTInG PrInCIPlES    
 
General  
The company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act, financial statement regulations for 
insurance companies and generally accepted accounting principles.
     
Insurance premiums 
Insurance premiums are recognised over the term of the policy. Gross 
premiums written include all the amounts the company has received 
or is owed for insurance contracts where the insurance period starts 
before the end of the period. At the end of the period accruals are 
recorded, and the premiums written that relate to subsequent periods 
will be accrued under “change in gross provision for unearned premi-
ums”. For change of ownership insurance the income is entered into 
the financial statement at the time of the risk transfer. Premiums for 
ceded reinsurance reduce the gross premiums written and are accrued 
according to the insurance period.
     
allocated investment return 
When calculating the return on investments which is being trans-
ferred from non-technical accounts to technical accounts for non-life 
insurance, it will be on the basis of the sum of the average technical 
provisions during the year. The applicable technical interest rate is the 
average yield during the year on government bonds with a remaining 
maturity of three years. The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 
has calculated the average technical yield for 2012 and 2011 to be 1.44 
and 2.29 per cent respectively.

Claims incurred
Insurance products are generally divided into two main categories: 
long-tail and short-tail insurance products. The settlement period 
is defined as the duration between a loss or loss occurrence (date of 
loss) and the time when the claim is reported and then paid and set-
tled. Short-tail insurance products are e.g. property insurance, while 
long-tail products primarily involve personal lines of business. The 
uncertainty in short-tailed lines of business is linked primarily to the 
size of the loss.

For long-tail lines of business the risk is linked to the fact that the total 
claim costs must be estimated based on experience and empirical data. 
For certain personal lines products, it may take 10 to 15 years before 
all the claims that occurred in a particular calendar year are reported 
to the company. In addition, there will be many instances where the 
reported information is inadequate to calculate correct claims provi-
sions. This may be due to ambiguity concerning the causal relationship, 
and uncertainty about, the injured party’s future work capacity etc. 
many personal injury claims are tried in the court system, and the level 
of compensation for such claims has increased over time. This will also 
be of consequence to claims that occurred in previous years which have 
not yet been settled. The risk linked to provisions for personal lines of 
business is thus affected by external conditions. To reduce this risk, the 
company calculates its claims related liabilities based on various meth-
ods and ensures that the registered provisions linked to ongoing claims 
are updated at all times based on the current calculation rules.

Claims incurred consist of gross paid claims less the reinsurers’ share, 
in addition to a change in provision for claims, gross, also less the re-
insurers’ share. The provision for claims includes provision for indirect 
claims handling costs. The claims incurred contain run-off gains / 
losses on previous years’ claims provisions.

Total operating expenses
Total insurance related operating expenses consist of sales- and 
administrative expenses, less commissions received on ceded reinsur-
ance premiums. The administrative expenses are accrued and charged 
as an expense during the accounting period.

TEChnICal PrOVISIOnS
The technical provisions are calculated in accordance with the 
principles established in the regulations of 10.05.1991 no. 301 for the 
minimum requirement for insurance technical provisions and non-life 
and reinsurance risk statistics and the supplementary regulations 
of 18.11.1992 no 1242 for the minimum requirement for insurance 
technical provisions and non-life and reinsurance risk statistics. The 
theoretical methods applied in the calculations are described in the 
2nd chapter of the supplementary regulation.

Provision for unearned premiums
The premium provision represents the accrual of insurance premiums 
and comprises the unearned portion of premiums written during the 
year. The earned premiums are accrued linearly throughout the period 
of insurance.

Provision for outstanding claims
The claims provision comprises provisions for claims which are 
reported but not settled, and claims incurred but not reported at the 
end of the accounting year. The provisions in respect of known losses 
are individually assessed by the claims department, while the provi-
sions for claims not yet reported are based on empirical data and the 
application of actuarial calculations. The provisions shall cover the 
company’s expected future claims payments for risks covered to date.

Security provision
The security provisions are statutory and shall cover fluctuations in the 
company’s premium and liabilities for own account.

natural perils fund
Operating surplus from the mandatory Norwegian Natural Perils Pool 
must be allocated to a separate Natural Perils fund. These funds may 
only be drawn upon in respect of claims related to losses caused by 
natural perils. The fund is tied-up equity.

Guarantee scheme 
The purpose of the guarantee scheme is to guarantee that claims 
submitted under direct non-life insurance contracts entered into in 
Norway are settled in full. The fund is tied-up equity.

Subordinated loan
Subordinated loan is accounted at amortized cost using effective inter-
est rate method. Transaction costs related to the issue of the loan are 
included in the amortized cost.

receivables
In the balance-sheet trade debtors and other receivables are ac-
counted for at face value adjusted for provisions for expected losses. 
Provisions for expected losses are made based on evaluations of the 
individual receivables.

Bank
Bank deposits are deposits used in the continuing operations.

Investments
Financial assets and liabilities are classified at fair value through profit 
or loss if they are included in a portfolio that is measured and evalu-
ated regularly at fair value. 

Protector holds an investment portfolio that is designated at fair value 
at initial recognition, and that is managed and evaluated regularly at 
fair value. This is according to the Board of directors’ approved risk 
management and investment strategy.

Ordinary purchases and sales of investments are booked at the time 
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of settlement. All financial assets that are not booked at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in the balance sheet for the first 
time at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets that are 
booked at fair value through profit or loss are booked at fair value when 
acquired and transaction costs are allocated in the accounts. Invest-
ments are removed from the balance sheet once the right to receive 
gains from the investment terminates or once these rights are trans-
ferred and the company on the whole has transferred all risk and the 
entire profit potential inherent to the ownership. Financial assets with 
fair value through profit or loss are considered to represent fair value 
once they appear on the balance sheet for the first time.  
Profit or loss from variations in fair value of assets is classified as 
”financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, including interest 
income and dividend, is included in the income statement under “un-
realised gains and reversed unrealised losses on financial assets” and 
“Gains and losses from realisation of financial assets” in the period 
they arise. dividends from financial assets at fair value through income 
are included once the company’s right to dividends are decided.
Fair value of listed investments is based on the prevailing bid price. 
Fair value of non-listed assets is determined by our management. The 
Norwegian mutual Fund Association (VFF) weekly collects (credit-) 
spreads from 5 brokerages. The average is sent out to fund managers 
and used as a basis for valuation of the securities in their portfolios.    

fixed assets and intangible assets
Fixed assets and intangible assets are recognised at acquisition costs, 
and are written down to actual value when the depreciation in value 
is not expected to be temporary. depreciations are deducted from the 
durable business assets and intangible assets. Potential expenditures 
or improvements are added to the business assets acquisition cost and 
depreciate in line with the business asset. 
The immaterial assets comprise software and IT-systems. The Com-
pany’s IT-systems are developed in-house. 

dividend
dividend from investments is recognised when the company has an 
unconditional right to receive the dividend. dividend paid is recognised 
as a liability at the time when the General meeting approves the pay-
ment of the dividend.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or construc-
tive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that this will re-
sult in the payment or transfer of other assets to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Information about contingent assets are disclosed where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. Information about a contingent liability 
is disclosed unless the possibility of a capital outflow is remote.

Pensions
The pension costs and pension liabilities are calculated on a straight-
line earning profile basis, based on assumptions related to discount 
rates, projected salaries, the amount of pension and benefits from the 
National Insurance Scheme, future return on pension funds, and actu-
arial calculations relating to mortality rate, voluntary retirement, etc. 
Pension funds are recognised at fair value net of pension liability in the 
balance sheet. Changes in the pension liability due to changes in the 
pension plans are recognised over the estimated average remaining 
service period. When the accumulated effect of changes in and devia-
tions from actuarial assumptions (changes in estimates) exceed 10 per 
cent of the higher of pension obligations and pension plan assets, the 

excess amount is recognized over the estimated average remaining 
service period.

linear contribution and expected terminal pay form the basis of con-
tribution when pensions are accounted. Plan changes are amortized 
over estimated remaining service period. The same guidelines apply 
as far as deviation from estimates is concerned, to the extent that the 
deviation of estimates exceeds 10 % of the larger of pension liability 
and pension funds (corridor).

Employers’ national insurance contributions are ascribed to net pen-
sion commitment.

The cost of the defined contribution pension scheme is equal to the 
period’s payment for the pension’s savings which amounts annually 
to 5% of the payment basis between 1 and 6 G (G=National Insurance 
Scheme basic amount which totaled NOK 82,122 pr. 31.12.2012), as 
well as 8% of the payment basis between 6 and 12 G. The payments to 
the employees’ pension savings accounts are made monthly. The future 
pension is dependent on the size of the contribution and return on the 
pension savings.

Tax
The tax expense in the income statement consists both of taxes payable 
for the accounting period, and the period’s changes in deferred tax. 
deferred tax is calculated as 28% of the temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements, together with tax loss carried forward at the end 
of the fiscal year. Temporary tax increases or decreases, which are re-
versed or may reverse within the same period, are balanced. deferred 
tax assets are recorded in the balance sheet when it is more likely than 
not that the tax assets will be utilized.

foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective 
functional currencies at exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 
For transactions related to activities in Sweden and denmark, the 
Swedish and danish crowns are converted to Norwegian crowns by 
translating the profit and loss at average exchange rates for the period 
of activity, and by translating the assets and obligations on the balance 
sheet at exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences 
arising on retranslations are recognised in profit or loss

Cash flow statement
Cash flows from operating activities are presented according to the 
direct method, which gives information about material classes and 
payments.

Change in accounting policy
From 2012 new regulations requiring to classify claims handling 
costs as paid claims are enforced. This results in a transfer of claims 
handling costs from administration costs to paid out claims. The 
implementation effect for the accounting year 2012 was a reduction in 
administration costs by NOK 73.3 million and an increase of NOK 73.3 
million in paid out claims costs. The implementation effect for the ac-
counting year 2011 was a reduction in administration costs by NOK 59.6 
million and a corresponding increase in paid out claims costs. The new 
classification will result in an increased claims ratio and corresponding 
reduction in cost ratio. In other word, the reclassification has no effect 
on the combined ratio.

Comparable numbers for 2011 are restated.

  nOTE 2 InSuranCE rISk

The risk under any one insurance contract is the probability that the 
insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting 
claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random 
and must therefore be estimated.

Factors that have a negative impact on insurance risk include lack of 
risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, geographical 
location and type of industry covered.

Protector operates primarily in the Norwegian market, but entered 
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the Swedish insurance market January 2011 and the danish insur-
ance market in 2012. Protector writes all classes of business within 
general insurance. Protector seeks to diversify the insurance portfolio 
to reduce the variability of the expected results.

underwriting risk
underwriting risk is the risk related to whether charged premiums are 
sufficient to cover payable liabilities in respect of insurance contracts 
Protector enters into.

This risk is assessed and managed on the basis of statistical analyses 
of historical experience for the various lines of business. The insur-
ance premium must be sufficient to cover expected claims, but must 
also comprise a risk premium equal to the return on the part of the 
company’s capital that is used to protect against random fluctuations. 
All other things equal, this means that lines of business which, from 
experience, are subject to major fluctuations, must include a larger 
risk premium.

Reinsurance is used to reduce the underwriting risk in areas where 
this is particularly required.

The company has clearly specified guidelines for which types of insur-
ance risks, as well as which limits of liability that can be written.  un-
derwriting limits are in place to ensure that appropriate risk selection 
criteria are applied and to ensure that accepted risks are within the 
terms and conditions of the company’s reinsurance contracts. Protec-
tor’s reinsurance contracts which are a combination of quota share and 
Xl agreements, further reduces the risk exposure. Insurance risks are 
considered moderate with the reinsurance cover the company has in 
place.

Provisioning risk
Once the policy period expires, the insurance risk relates to the provi-
sions to cover future payments on claims incurred. Clients may report 
claims with a certain delay. depending on the complexity of the claim, a 
shorter or longer period of time may pass until the amount of the claim 
has been finally calculated. This may be a prolonged process par-

ticularly for personal injuries. Even when the claim has been settled, 
there is a risk that it will be resumed at a later date, triggering further 
payments.

The size of the claims provisions is determined both through individual 
assessments and actuarial calculations. At 31 december 2012, the 
claims provisions amounted to NOK 1,797 million for own account. The 
duration of the provisions, that is, the average duration of provisions 
being settled to clients, was 3.40 years at 31 december 2012. 1%-point 
increase in inflation will result in a growth in claims provisions of  
NOK 61 million. See below how future cash flow is related to provisions 
for outstanding claims for own account at 31 december 2012.

The calculation of provisions for claims will always be subject to 
considerable uncertainty. Historically, many insurers have experienced 

substantial positive as well as negative impacts on profit (run-off) 
resulting from reserving risk and that may also be expected to happen 
in the future.

Reserving risk is managed by pursuing a reserving policy which en-
sures that the process for determining provisions for claims is updated 
and aligned at all times. This includes that it is based on an underlying 
model analysis, and that internal control calculations and evaluations 
are made.

Cash flow connected to claims provisions for own account

Future cash flow related to claims incurred

[1.000 NOK]  
At 31 december 2012

0 - 5 
years

5 - 10 
years

10 - 15 
years

15 - 20 
years

Claims provisions for 
own account 1 797 466 1 388 303 309 818 82 792 16 553

GROSS ClAImS dEVElOPmENT

[1.000 nOk] 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total

GROSS

Estimated claims cost

2004  62 952  62 952 

2005  61 407  299 414  360 821 

2006  68 503  253 356  299 485  621 344 

2007  76 939  254 808  290 770  496 529  1 119 047 

2008  74 235  260 642  312 225  496 175  522 126  1 665 402 

2009  78 788  258 107  314 936  478 992  516 928  658 842  2 306 592 

2010  78 669  271 963  327 909  497 981  509 203  625 905  711 482  3 023 111 

2011  78 853  273 037  318 334  497 501  525 928  624 251  662 924  825 611  3 806 438 

2012  79 845  275 401  321 391  512 527  563 829  620 136  669 016  784 480  1 077 231  4 903 858 

Estimated amount as at 31.12.2012  79 845  275 401  321 391  512 527  563 829  620 136  669 016  784 480  1 077 231  4 903 858 

Total disbursed  77 359  270 940  304 952  460 484  442 751  433 788  395 987  342 115  259 290  2 987 667 

Claims provision  2 486  4 461  16 439  52 043  121 078  186 349  273 029  442 365  817 941  1 916 191 

Provision for indirect claims handling costs  101 695 

Total  79 845  275 401  321 391  512 527  563 829  620 136  669 016  784 480  1 077 231  4 903 858 
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Effect on profit before tax (for own account) (nOk 1.000) 2012 2011

1 % change in operating expenses1  144  410 

1 % change in claims incurred1  9 401  7 298 

1 % - point change in combined ratio  11 074  9 035 

1 % - point change in inflation  61 114  49 998 

The size of claims provisions 
Insurance events are random, and the actual number and amount of 
claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the level estab-
lished using statistical techniques. Experience shows that the larger 
the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative 
variability of the expected outcome will be.

The frequency and severity of claims can be affected by several factors. 
The different factors will depend on the products, or lines of busi-
ness considered. An increase in the frequency of claims can be due to 
seasonal effects and more sustainable effects. In some lines of busi-
nesses, with relatively few claims, severe claims may heavily influence 
the result. In most lines of businesses the underlying development of 
the severity of claims is influenced by inflation. For bodily injuries the 
severity of claims is also influenced by court rulings, which tend to 
increase the compensation more than the general inflation.

See the effect on profit before tax (for own account) in the sensitiv-
ity analyses below for 1% change in operating expenses , 1% change 
in claims incurred, 1%-point change in combined ratio and 1%-point 
change in inflation.

Sensitivity analysis

Credit risk

rating Investments categorised by credit rating Investments categorised by credit rating, internal ratings 
included

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011 2012 2011

AAA  -    60 013  -    60 013 

AA  33  55 246  33  63 419 

A  240 342  294 596  494 075  562 874 

BBB  20 289  81 902  655 996  372 908 

BB  29 099  -    53 106  46 320 

B  -    -    11 245  7 992 

No rating  2 617 998  1 444 023  1 693 306  822 254 

Total  2 907 761  1 935 779  2 907 761  1 935 779 

72 % (57 % in 2011) of the amount under the category ”no rating” was bond funds. 23 % (34 %) of the amount under the category ”no rating” was 
Norwegian financial institutions. A significant proportion of the Norwegian fixed income portfolio consists of issuers without official rating.  Therefore, 
many asset managers and brokers conduct their own creditworthness assessment with the same rating categories as the rating agencies. To provide 
an overall picture, the two right-most columns in the table above include the internal rating set by Protectors asset managers. The category ”no rating” 
consists only of bond funds. Calculated average rating of the funds, based on internal ratings of the underlying securities is BBB.

1 Amount for 2011 is restated due to the change in the accounting principle for claims  
handling costs

nOTE 3   fInanCIal rISk

Specification of financial assets grouped by maturity [1.000 nOk] less than one year More than a year no maturity Total

Bank deposits related to investments 64 295 64 295

Interest-bearing papers 22 131 928 631 950 761

Equities 145 310 145 310

Equity funds 139 750 139 750

Bond fund 1 892 704 1 892 704

Total investments 86 426 928 631 2 177 763 3 192 820

Bank deposits 141 890 141 890

Total financial assets 228 316 928 631 2 177 763 3 334 710

Specification of financial obligations grouped by maturity less than one year More than a year no maturity Total

Subordinated loan 148 125 148 125

Other obligations 191 812 191 812

Total financial obligations 191 812 148 125 0 339 937

liquidity risk  
The company’s financial assets are placed as bank deposits, liquid interest-bearing papers, shares and funds. The liquidity risk is limited. 
upon the sale of financial assets, the settlement day will be within 3 days. 29 march 2012 the company issued subordinated loan with a face 
value of NOK 150 million. Subordinated loan is classified as an obligation on the balance sheet and is valued at an amortized cost.  
See note 20 for more information.     
Interest risk 
An increase of 1% in interest will lead to a reduction in the portfolio of bonds and other investments with fixed returns by an estimate of  
NOK 25.6 million. This corresponds to interest rate sensitivity of ca 0.9 %.     
foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is defined as the financial loss resulting from a fluctuation in exchange rates. Some investments in bonds and bond 
funds are in foreign currency, mainly in uSd and SEK. Generally, exchange risk in the investment portfolio is hedged close to 100 percent, 
within permitted limit of +/- five percent per currency.
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nOTE 5   InTanGIBlE aSSETS

Intangible assets [1.000 nOk]  Software  IT- system  Total 

Cost as at 01.01.2012  1 174  21 581  22 755 

Additions   24   5 008  5 032 

Cost as at 31.12.2012  1 198  26 589  27 787 

Accumulated depreciation at 31.12.2012  (1 052)  (17 734)  (18 786)

net book value at 31.12.2012   146   8 855  9 001 

Annual depreciation  56  5 695  5 751 

Intangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets expected useful life.  

Expected useful life (years)  4  3 

nOTE 6  TanGIBlE fIXEd aSSETS

fixed  assets [1.000 nOk]  Office machinery   furniture and 
fixtures  

 art  Total 

Cost as at 01.01.2012  6 207  3 375  216  9 798 

Additions  6 244  188  6 432 

disposals  (110)  -    (110)

Cost as at 31.12.2012  12 342  3 563  216  16 120 

Accumulated depreciation at 31.12.2012  (5 189)  (1 688)  (6 877)

net book value 31.12.2012  7 153  1 875  216  9 243 

Annual depreciation  997  489  1 486 

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets expected useful life. Artworks are not depreciated.  
 

Expected useful life (years)  4  7 
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Investment [1.000 nOk] Currency acquisition cost Book value fair value risk weight

AKER SOluTIONS ASA NOK 3 430 4 516 4 516 100 %

ATEA ASA NOK 1 898 1 806 1 806 100 %

AuSTEVOll SEAFOOd ASA NOK 1 140 1 265 1 265 100 %

dET NORSKE OlJESElSKAP ASA NOK 3 246 2 995 2 995 100 %

dNB ASA NOK 13 053 13 365 13 365 100 %

FREd OlSEN ENERGy ASA NOK 4 778 5 005 5 005 100 %

GJENSIdIGE FORSIKRING ASA NOK 4 004 4 780 4 780 100 %

HAFSluNd ASA NOK 1 221 951 951 100 %

KONGSBERG GRuPPEN ASA NOK 6 862 7 022 7 022 100 %

lERØy SEAFOOd GROuP ASA NOK 1 128 1 515 1 515 100 %

mARINE HARVEST ASA NOK 3 046 5 058 5 058 100 %

NORSK HydRO ASA NOK 6 015 5 129 5 129 100 %

NORWEGIAN AIR SHuTTlE ASA NOK 3 226 5 756 5 756 100 %

PETROlEum GEO-SERVICES ASA NOK 3 589 4 291 4 291 100 %

PHOTOCuRE ASA NOK 928 882 882 100 %

PROSAFE SE NOK 2 328 2 248 2 248 100 %

ROyAl CARIBBEAN CRuISES lTd NOK 4 507 4 931 4 931 100 %

SCHIBSTEd ASA NOK 4 776 6 406 6 406 100 %

SEAdRIll lImITEd NOK 5 191 4 690 4 690 100 %

SIEm OFFSHORE NOK 2 065 1 642 1 642 100 %

SOlSTAd OFFSHORE ASA NOK 1 070 1 070 1 070 100 %

SPAREBANK 1 SmN NOK 2 219 2 114 2 114 100 %

SPAREBANK 1 SR-BANK ASA NOK 1 399 1 448 1 448 100 %

nOTE 7    InVESTMEnTS

Investment [1.000 nOk] Book value 
31.12.12

fair value 
31.12.12

Book value 
31.12.11

fair value 
31.12.11

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 192 820 3 192 820 2 354 751 2 354 751

Total investments 3 192 820 3 192 820 2 354 751 2 354 751

SuBORdINATEd lOAN CAPITAl IN OTHER COmPANIES 

Investment [1.000 NOK] Currency Acquisition cost Book value Fair value duration

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss NOK 23 423 27 537 27 537 0,12

Total subordinated loan capital in other companies year 2012 23 423 27 537 27 537 0,12

Total subordinated loan capital in other companies year 2011 59 977 62 846 62 846 0,19

FINANCIAl ASSETS AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH PROFIT OR lOSS

STOCKS ANd SHARES 

Investment [1.000 NOK] Currency Acquisition cost Book value Fair value 

Eguities NOK 135 746 145 310 145 310

Equity funds NOK 111 727 139 750 139 750

Total equities and equity funds year 2012 247 474 285 059 285 059

Total equities and equity funds year 2011 373 579 418 971 418 971

The equity funds (2012 and 2011) are not listed.
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Investment [1.000 nOk] Currency acquisition cost Book value fair value risk weight

STATOIl ASA NOK 15 751 14 093 14 093 100 %

SuBSEA 7 SA NOK 11 443 11 687 11 687 100 %

TElENOR ASA NOK 12 168 13 298 13 298 100 %

TGS NOPEC GEOPHySICAl COmPANy ASA NOK 4 837 5 679 5 679 100 %

VEIdEKKE ASA NOK 1 636 1 638 1 638 100 %

WIlH. WIlHElmSEN ASA NOK 2 588 3 568 3 568 100 %

yARA INTERNATIONAl ASA NOK 6 205 6 463 6 463 100 %

135 746 145 310 145 310

All shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

BONdS ANd OTHER FIXEd INCOmE SECuRITIES

Investment [1.000 nOk] Currency acquisition cost Book value fair value duration

Subordinated loan capital in other companies NOK 23 423 27 537 27 537 0,12

Financial institutions NOK 761 780 774 870 774 870 0,23

Industry NOK 145 046 148 354 148 354 0,12

Bond funds NOK 1 856 880 1 892 704 1 892 704 1,25

Total bonds and other fixed income securities  
year 2012

2 787 128 2 843 465 2 843 465 0,90   

- of this not quoted on the stock exchange year 2012 1 950 567 1 988 571 1 988 571 3,21   

Total bonds and other fixed income securities  
year 2011

1 806 429 1 839 656 1 839 656 0,27   

- of this not quoted on the stock exchange year 2011 1 219 826 1 247 779 1 247 779 1,86   

Average effective interest rate based on market value is 5.3 %. 
Average interest rate is future cash flows (coupon disbursements and payments on principal amount) discounted with expected market 
rate for the security concerned at the particular cash flow points in time. The effective interest rate on bond funds is estimated based on 
the bonds quotations.          

OTHER FINANCIAl ASSETS

Investment [1.000 NOK] Currency Acquisition cost Book value Fair value Duration

Bank deposits related to investments NOK 64 295 64 295 64 295 0,00 

Total other financial assets year 2012 64 295 64 295 64 295 0,00   

Total other financial assets year 2011 33 277 33 277 33 277 0,00   

FINANCIAl ASSETS AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH  
PROFIT OR lOSS

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Currency level 1 level 2 level 3 Total

Shares NOK 145 310 139 750  -   285 059

Bonds and other fixed income securities NOK 854 894 1 983 843 4 728 2 843 465

Bank deposits NOK 64 295  -    -   64 295

Total assets year 2012 1 064 499 2 123 593 4 728 3 192 820

Total assets year 2011 787 042 1 567 708  -   2 354 751

Fair value of financial assets traded in active markets are based on market value on the accounting day. A market is considered active if the 
market rates are easily and regularly available from a stock exchange, distributor, broker, industrial classification, price-setting service 
or regulatory authority, and these prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions at arm’s length. The market price 
applied to financial assets is the existing bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Fair value of financial instruments not traded 
in an active market are determined by using valuation methods. These valuation methods maximise the use of observable data where 
available, and are based as little as possible on own estimates. The instrument is included in level 2 if all essential data are not based on 
observable market data.

The instrument is included in level 3 if one or more essential data are not based on observable market data.     
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nOTE 9   rESTrICTEd Bank dEPOSITS

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Employee withholding tax 5 021   10 924

Total 5 021   10 924

nOTE 8   rECEIVaBlES

The company has (as in 2011) no receivables due later than one year.

nOTE 10  SharE CaPITal and SharEhOldEr InfOrMaTIOn

Share capital consists of: no of shares face value Capital

A-shares (each share has one vote) 86 155 605 1 86 155 605

Protector Forsikring ASA has 2.619 shareholders at 31.12.2012. 

list of the 20 major shareholders at 31.12.2012 no of shares face value Ownership

 Odin Norden 7 042 550 7 042 550   8,2 %

 Bnybe-msf-mutual Financial Servi 4 479 410 4 479 410   5,2 %

 VPF Nordea Norge Verdi  3 950 013 3 950 013   4,6 %

 Hansard Europe lTd  3 902 793 3 902 793   4,5 %

 Ojada AS 3 563 116 3 563 116   4,1 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 3 251 642 3 251 642   3,8 %

 Tjongsfjord Invest AS  2 811 809 2 811 809   3,3 %

 Gabler Rådgivning AS 2 652 751 2 652 751   3,1 %

 mP Pensjon PK 2 375 706 2 375 706   2,8 %

 Verdipapirfondet dnb Smb 2 357 052 2 357 052   2,7 %

 Artel Holding A/S 1 873 451 1 873 451   2,2 %

 Frognes AS 1 649 916 1 649 916   1,9 %

 Johan Vinje AS 1 437 841 1 437 841   1,7 %

 Bnyxe - Equity Tri-party (3) 1 361 067 1 361 067   1,6 %

 Petroservice AS 1 343 815 1 343 815   1,6 %

 Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund  1 256 653 1 256 653   1,5 %

 Jpmcb Re Shb Swedish Funds lending 1 250 000 1 250 000   1,5 %

 Høye, Trond 1 235 562 1 235 562   1,4 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Norge 1 210 288 1 210 288   1,4 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Aktiv 1 049 492 1 049 492   1,2 %

Total 50 054 927 50 054 927 58,1 %

Protector Forsikring ASA 3 570 661 3 570 661 4,1 %

Other shareholders 32 530 017 32 530 017   37,8 %

Total number of shares 86 155 605 86 155 605 100,0 %
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nOTE 10  SharE CaPITal and SharEhOldEr InfOrMaTIOn

Share capital consists of: no of shares face value Capital

A-shares (each share has one vote) 86 155 605 1 86 155 605

Protector Forsikring ASA has 2.619 shareholders at 31.12.2012. 

list of the 20 major shareholders at 31.12.2012 no of shares face value Ownership

 Odin Norden 7 042 550 7 042 550   8,2 %

 Bnybe-msf-mutual Financial Servi 4 479 410 4 479 410   5,2 %

 VPF Nordea Norge Verdi  3 950 013 3 950 013   4,6 %

 Hansard Europe lTd  3 902 793 3 902 793   4,5 %

 Ojada AS 3 563 116 3 563 116   4,1 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 3 251 642 3 251 642   3,8 %

 Tjongsfjord Invest AS  2 811 809 2 811 809   3,3 %

 Gabler Rådgivning AS 2 652 751 2 652 751   3,1 %

 mP Pensjon PK 2 375 706 2 375 706   2,8 %

 Verdipapirfondet dnb Smb 2 357 052 2 357 052   2,7 %

 Artel Holding A/S 1 873 451 1 873 451   2,2 %

 Frognes AS 1 649 916 1 649 916   1,9 %

 Johan Vinje AS 1 437 841 1 437 841   1,7 %

 Bnyxe - Equity Tri-party (3) 1 361 067 1 361 067   1,6 %

 Petroservice AS 1 343 815 1 343 815   1,6 %

 Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund  1 256 653 1 256 653   1,5 %

 Jpmcb Re Shb Swedish Funds lending 1 250 000 1 250 000   1,5 %

 Høye, Trond 1 235 562 1 235 562   1,4 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Norge 1 210 288 1 210 288   1,4 %

 Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Aktiv 1 049 492 1 049 492   1,2 %

Total 50 054 927 50 054 927 58,1 %

Protector Forsikring ASA 3 570 661 3 570 661 4,1 %

Other shareholders 32 530 017 32 530 017   37,8 %

Total number of shares 86 155 605 86 155 605 100,0 %

Shares owned by the board of directors and 
their close relations, together with shares 
owned by other senior executives and their 
close relations at 31.12.2012 Identification

no. of 
shares face value Ownership

Ojada AS Board member Erik G Braathen 3 563 116 3 563 116   4,1 %

Tjongsfjord Invest AS CEO Sverre Bjerkeli 2 811 809 2 811 809   3,3 %

Gabler Rådgivning AS Chairman of the board Jostein Sørvoll 2 652 751 2 652 751   3,1 %

ditlev de Vibe Vanay CFO 225 800 225 800   0,3 %

Verpentangen AS Board member Jørgen Stang Heffermehl 222 260 222 260   0,3 %

merete C. Bernau director for ownership change insurance 65 200 65 200   0,1 %

Pia Almvang director for commercial insurance 51 200 51 200   0,1 %

laila Stange Board member Jørgen Stang Heffermehl 14 558 14 558   0,0 %

Fredrik messel director for commercial claims settlement 10 100 10 100   0,0 %

Henrik Wold Høye director for public sector insurance 10 000 10 000   0,0 %

Eva Redhe Ridderstad Board member 10 000 10 000   0,0 %

Giuditta Cordero-moss Board member 5 000 5 000   0,0 %

Christel Friis Conrad Country manager denmark, Flemming Conrad 4 222 4 222   0,0 %

Arvid moss Board member Giuditta Cordero-moss 1 000 1 000   0,0 %

marianne langrind Kvanvik Board member, employees' representative 100 100   0,0 %

Total 9 647 116 9 647 116   11,2 %

nOTE 11   PEnSIOnS

Protector Forsikring is required to have an occupational pension plan pursuant to the mandatory Occupational Pension Act. The company’s 
pension plans meet the requirements of the Act. The defined benefit plan is closed (discontinued from 1 July 2012). New employees are enrolled 
in defined contribution pension plan. 

Based on insurance technical principles, actuarial calculations have been carried out on future pension payments. The calculated liabilities are 
held together with the value of the paid in and accumulated pension funds. The difference is kept as long-term liabilities or pension funds under 
the assets. 

The cost of the defined contribution pension scheme is equal to the period’s payment for the pension’s savings which amounts to 5% of the  
payment basis between 1 and 6 G (G=National Insurance Scheme basic amount), as well as 8% of the payment basis between 6 and 12 G.  
The company has defined contribution pension scheme in Sweden and denmark which is the standard for the branch. 

The CEO has an agreement of top-pension. maximum annual top pension is 70% of the salary up to 12 G which exceeds 12 G. Allocation to the top  
pension totaled NOK 0.9 million in net pension costs incl. employer’s contribution in 2012.     

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Present value of this years acquired pension  10 180  9 640 

Interest costs on the acquired pension  1 034  1 302 

Return on the pension funds  (568)  (1 247)

Expenses  (1 102)  441 

Amortisation of deviation from estimates  769  576 

net pension costs incl. employer's contribution  10 312  10 711 

Present value of future pension liabilities as at 31.12.  32 586  47 433 

Pension funds at 31.12.  (20 900)  (23 839)

Surplus/deficit at 31.12.  11 686  23 594 

deviation from estimates not recognized in the profit and loss account  699  (13 807)

net pension liabilities incl. employer's contribution  12 384  9 787 
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nOTE 12  TaX

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011 Changes

THIS yEAR'S TAXES ARE dIVIdEd BETWEEN

Tax payable  33 620  43 852 

Adjusted for tax in previous years  (3 043)

Change in deferred tax  14 691  (222)

Total taxes  48 311  40 587 

COmPOSITION OF PENSION FuNdS 2012 2011

Stocks 11,0 % 12,0 %

Property 16,0 % 23,0 %

Term bonds 36,0 % 30,0 %

Bonds 20,0 % 19,0 %

money market 12,0 % 13,0 %

Other 5,0 % 3,0 %

Total pension funds 100,0 % 100,0 %

The actual return on plan assets in NOK  (5 991)  (1 218)

ECONOmICAl ASSumPTIONS

discount rate 1 3,9 % 2,6 %

Expected return 3,9 % 4,1 %

Future increase in salaries 3,5 % 3,5 %

Change in social security base amount 3,3 % 3,3 %

Pension adjustment 0,2 % 0,1 %

Employer's contribution 14,1 % 14,1 %

dEmOGRAPHIC ASSuPTIONS

mortality K2005 K2005

disability Ku IR2003

1 The market interest rate of the prefer bonds is used for the calculation of the discount rate in 2012. Earlier years’ discount rate is set initially at the 
rate of state bonds. The reason for this choice is the estimation that a deep market for the prefered bonds with a duration comparative to the duration of 
pension liabilities exists.

The calulated cost of the defined contribution pension sceme is NOK 1,502 thousand      

COmPuTATION OF THIS yEAR’S TAX

Profit before taxes  246 941  33 014 

Permanent differences  (71 405)  111 385 

Changes in temporary differences  (55 463)  28 705 

Adjustments previous years, the effects of temporary differences  -    10 869 

Correction effects of previous years tax loss carried forward  -    (10 869)

used tax loss carried forward  -    (16 488)

Basis for the tax expense of the year  120 072  156 615 

Tax payable 28%  33 620  43 852 

Tax payable from previous years on the changes in accounting principles  -    5 261 

Payable tax in the balance sheet  33 620  49 113 
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TEmPORARy dIFFERENCES [1.000 NOK] 2012 2011 Changes

Fixed assets  666  (977)  (1 643)

Receivables  (800)  (800)  -   

Financial assets  53 455  34  (53 421)

Technical provisions  90 072  87 338  (2 734)

Pension liabilities  (12 384)  (9 787)  2 598 

net temporary differences  131 009  75 809  (55 200)

Other differences - (263) (263)

differences which are not included in the calculation of deferred tax / 
deferred tax assets

 90 072  87 338  (2 734)

Basis for deferred tax in the balance sheet  40 937  (11 792)  52 730 

28 % deferred tax  11 462  (3 302)  14 764 

deferred tax benefit in the balance sheet  (11 462)  3 302  (14 764)

RECONCIlIATION OF TAX

[1.000 NOK] 2012 2011

28% profit before taxes  69 144  9 244 

Permanent differences (28%)  (19 994)  31 188 

Corrected tax earlier years (74) -

differences which are not included in the calculation of deferred tax / 
deferred tax assets

 (765)  155 

Estimated tax  48 311  40 587 

Tax from profit and loss account  48 311  40 587

nOTE 13  OThEr lIaBIlITIES

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Payables 3 880 9 206

Reinsurance yet to be settled 130 515 116 320

Allocation of vacation pay 8 829 8 451

Allocation of employers contribution 2 437 5 357

Advance tax deduction 4 926 10 720

Other liabilities 41 224 53 377

Total liabilities 191 812 203 430

The company has no secured liabilities.

nOTE 14   SalES EXPEnSES

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Sales expenses 8 245   25 592   

% of premium due 0,5 % 2,1 %

The company's sales expenses consists of commission to the insurance brokers .
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nOTE 15   Insurance related administrative expenses 

Insurance related administrative expenses [1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

depreciations  (notes  5 and 6) 7 237 7 258

Salary- and pensions costs (note 16) 124 666 108 008

Administrative costs 8 881 7 032

Remunerations 12 985 10 988

Change in accounting principles - claims handling costs (73 277) (59 553)

Other costs 24 186 17 808

Total 104 677   91 541   

auditing remuneration  [1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Auditing (inclusive VAT) 1 460 623

Other attestation services (inclusive VAT) 121 166

Services regarding tax (inclusive VAT) 23 -

Other services outside auditing (inclusive VAT) 983 460

Total 2 587   1 249  

nOTE 16   laBOur EXPEnSES, PEnSIOnS, nuMBEr Of EMPlOyEES

labour- and pension costs [1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Salaries ¹ 85 119 75 494   

director's remuneration , control committee, nomination committee, audit committee, 
the board of representatives

2 568   1 455   

defined benefit pension costs ² 9 359   9 560   

defined contribution pension costs ² 1 502   206   

Social security tax 14 571   15 514   

Other payments 11 548   5 779   

Total 124 666   108 008   

¹ The company has an ordinary arrangement for performance-related pay. The arrangement involves all employees with the exeption of the 
top management. The company has reserved NOK 9.7 million for bonus in 2012. Whether performance-related pay is triggered depends on 
achievement of goals pursuant to concluded performance contracts. 
² Refer to note 11 for further information.

number of employees 2012 2011

Number of employees at 31.12. 125,0 108,0 

Number of man-labour years at 31.12. 124,8 106,6 

Average number of employees at 31.12. 116,5 109,5 

Average number of man-labour years at 31.12. 115,7 108,6 



declaration of determination of salaries and other remunerations to 
senior executives

Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public limited Companies Act, the 
Board of directors must draw up a special statement of guidelines for  
the pay and other remuneration of senior executives. Furthermore, 
section 5-6 (3) of the same Act prescribes that an advisory vote must 
be held at the General meeting on the Board of directors’ guidelines 
for the remuneration of the executive management for the coming 
financial year (see (ii) below). In so far as the guidelines concern 
share-related incentive arrangements, these must also be approved 
by the General meeting (see (iii) below).

The Board has established a compensation committee that consists of 
three members: the Chairman of the Board and two board members.

The compensation committee shall prepare and present recommen-
dations to the Board on the following:

• The remuneration of the CEO
• Guidelines for remuneration and assessments of payments of  
 variable pay for these who report to the CEO
• The Board’s statement about determination of salary and other  
 compensation to senior executives.
• Significant employee related matters concerning senior executives.   

(i) Salary and other compensation to senior executives for the prior 
fiscal year are presented in the table below. The Board confirms that 
remuneration of senior executives in 2012 is in accordance with the 
guidelines given in the previous year’s statement.

(ii) With regard to guidelines for pay and other remuneration of  
the executive management in the coming financial year, the Board  
of directors will present the following guidelines to the General 
meeting in 2013 for an advisory vote:  
    
The purpose of Protector’s terms and conditions policy is to attract 
personnel with the competence that the company requires, further 
develop and retain employees with key expertise, and promote a 
long-term perspective and continuous improvement with a view to 
achieving Protector’s business goals.     

The general approach adopted in Protector’s policy is to offer a total 
compensation that is competitive in order for the company to be able 
to attract and retain the best senior executives

The Board of directors sets the CEO’s salary and other benefits 
based on the compensation committee’s recommendation. The CEO 
sets terms and remuneration for other senior executives within 
guidelines approved by the Board.

The total remuneration to senior executives consists of fixed salary, 
variable pay, pension, and fringe benefits. The total remuneration shall 
be competitive and reflect work efforts, responsibilities and professional 
challenges that are associated with executive responsibility in a company 
of Protector’s size and industry.

Fixed salaries are reviewed annually and are determined based on 
salary development in the society in general and financial industry in 
particular. 

Variable pay (bonus) can be paid to senior executives on the basis of 
concrete performance measurements in defined target areas derived 
from the company’s strategy and overall goals. The assessment takes 
into account a combination of the company’s overall performance 
targets, the business unit in question and an evaluation of the person 
in question’s personal contribution, including an overall assessment 

relating to compliance with the company’s vision, values and  
management principles.

The company working to establish a long-term incentive structure 
for senior executives and other key personnel where the bonus 
awarded is converted to synthetic shares based on the Protector’s 
share price pr. 31.12 the year the bonus was earned. The conversion 
to synthetic shares does not equal a right to the shares. The synthetic 
share holdings are distributed with 1/5 in cash while the remaining 
4/5 are treated as restricted capital. The cash part is paid out based 
on the company’s average share price during the first seven trading 
days after the annual general meeting. The restricted capital is paid 
out by 1/5 of the synthetic share capital over four years effective from 
the year after the cash part is paid out. The payments are based on 
the weighted average of the company’s share price during the first 
seven trading days after the company publishes its first quarterly 
results following the approval of its annual accounts for the previous 
year by the annual general meeting. Share price calculation for the 
cash payment and restricted capital shall be adjusted for dividend 
paid out between the date of conversion (31.12 of the year earned) 
and the payment date. Restricted variable remuneration that has not 
been disbursed may be reduced if subsequent results and develop-
ments indicate that it was based on incorrect assumptions.

The individual variable pay may amount to up to 50 per cent of the 
annual salary. The variable pay is not included in the pension basis.

Any fringe benefits shall have connection with one’s functions in the 
company and shall be in line with general practices in the market.

Senior executives’ pension age is 67 years. In Norway, CEO and 4 of 
the senior executives are members of the now-closed defined benefit 
pension scheme. At the full earning of the pension, they have right 
to the pension equal to the difference of 70% of the salary (salary 
over 12G are not eligible) and the calculated (not guaranteed) social 
security pension. 1 senior executive is a member of the company’s 
defined contribution pension plan. CEO has in addition an agreement 
about top pension which totals maximum 70% of the salary up to 12G 
for the amount which exceeds 12G (i. e. 8.4G).

Senior executives in Sweden and denmark have defined contribution 
pension arrangements which follow the industry standard.

CEO has an agreement which guarantees 15-month salary after 
termination of employment relationship. The pay after termination  
is established in order to secure clear guidelines should the situation 
occur that the Board would wish to terminate the employment  
relationship due to reasons related to the company’s situation.

(iii) With regards to the share-linked incentives for the coming year, the 
Board will propose the following guidelines for approval in the AGm:

Of the variable pay earned in 2013 by CEO and other employees that 
are covered by regulations for remuneration in financial institutions, 
at least half of the variable pay shall be paid in a form of restricted 
capital which reflects the company’s value development. The recipient 
cannot dispose the restricted capital freely earlier than equally divided 
over a minimum period of three years. The length of the period 
shall take into account the company’s underlying business cycle 
and inherent risk. Such part of the variable salary shall be reduced 
if either later result development in the company or latter results 
indicated so. The basis for the variable remuneration shall be related 
to the company’s results during minimum 2 years. Valuation criteria 
for the variable remuneration shall be defined in advance, and based 
on financial and non-financial criteria related to the individual, one’s 
business unit and the company as a whole.
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nOTE 17 rEMunEraTIOnS TO SEnIOr EXECuTIVES

nOTE 16   laBOur EXPEnSES, PEnSIOnS, nuMBEr Of EMPlOyEES

labour- and pension costs [1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Salaries ¹ 85 119 75 494   

director's remuneration , control committee, nomination committee, audit committee, 
the board of representatives

2 568   1 455   

defined benefit pension costs ² 9 359   9 560   

defined contribution pension costs ² 1 502   206   

Social security tax 14 571   15 514   

Other payments 11 548   5 779   

Total 124 666   108 008   

¹ The company has an ordinary arrangement for performance-related pay. The arrangement involves all employees with the exeption of the 
top management. The company has reserved NOK 9.7 million for bonus in 2012. Whether performance-related pay is triggered depends on 
achievement of goals pursuant to concluded performance contracts. 
² Refer to note 11 for further information.

number of employees 2012 2011

Number of employees at 31.12. 125,0 108,0 

Number of man-labour years at 31.12. 124,8 106,6 

Average number of employees at 31.12. 116,5 109,5 

Average number of man-labour years at 31.12. 115,7 108,6 



Payments and remunerations  [1.000 nOk] Salaries Performance 
-related pay² 

Other remu-
nerations³

Paid-up pension 
premium

Total remune-
rations 

Senior executives

Sverre Bjerkeli, CEO¹ 4 629 - 254 220 5 104

ditlev de Vibe Vanay,  CFO 2 025 - 124 190 2 339

merete C Bernau, director for ownership change 
insurance 2 058 - 34 204 2 296

Pia Almvang, director for commercial insurance 2 466 - 57 135 2 657

Fredrik messel, director for commercial claims settlement 1 685 - 30 204 1 919

Henrik Wold Høye, director for public sector insurance 1 379 272 33 88 1 773

Hans didring, country manager Sweden 1 392 - - 459 1 851

Flemming Conrad, country manager denmark 
(01.08.2012 -) 938 - 65 56 1 058

Total 16 572 272 597 1 557 18 997

¹ The CEO has concluded an agreement of pay after termination of employment for 15 months if given notice from the company. In addition 
the CEO also has a agreement about top-pension with a recognized cost of NOK 0.9 million in 2012.
² Includes ordinary performance-related compensation earned in 2011 and paid out in 2012 (up to 20% of annual salary). The performance 
pay scheme for the top management were terminated in 2010. Henrik Wold Høye entered the company’s leader group 14 may 2012.
³ Other remunerations comprises of company car, telephone, insurance and other contractual benefits.

Payments and remunerations  [1.000 nOk] ¹ remuneration Compensation 
committee

audit  
committee

Total remune-
rations 

Board of directors   

Jostein Sørvoll, the chairman of the board 453 30 483

Jørgen Stang Heffermehl, board member 239 40 279

Benedicte Bakke Agerup, board member ( - 25.04.2012) 207 43 250

Giuditta Cordero-moss, board member 210 20 30 260

Erik G Braathen, board member 210 20 230

Tolle Rolf, deputy chairman (30.03.2011 - ) 305 305

Else Bugge Fougner, board member (30.03.2011 - ) 174 174

Tor-Åge Schei, employees’ representative ( - 25.04.2012) 112 112

Hege Gran, employees’ representative ( - 25.04.2012) 112 112

Total 2 021 70 113 2 204

CONTROl COmmITTEE

Anders Jørgen lenborg, chairman 48 48

Thorvald m. Haraldsen, member (27.04.2011 - ) 34 34

Tore G Clausen, member 50 50

Others that left the committee in 2012 38 38

Total 170 170

NOmINATION COmmITTEE

Truls Holthe, chairman  (27.04.2011 - ) 14 14

Per Ottar Skaaret, member 15 15

Nils Petter Hollekim, member 15 15

Others that left the committee in 2012 6 6

Total 50 50

¹  Remunerations paid out  in accounting year 2012. 

In 2012 the board of representatives has received NOK 144 thousand in compensation. The board director received NOK 20 thousand and 
the members received NOK 10 thousand. There were no loans granted or guarantees given to senior executives,  other close related par-
ties or members of governing bodies.  

In the 2012 accounts there are no expenses or other liabilities related to share-value-based remuneration.
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nOTE 18 nET fInanCIal InCOME and EXPEnSES frOM fInanCIal aSSETS

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Income from financial assets

Interest income  108 919  73 992 

dividend  4 942  -   

unrealised gains on financial assets  62 775  14 958 

Gains from realisation of financial assets  101 380  18 084 

Total income from financial assets  278 016  107 034 

Expenses from financial assets

unrealised losses on financial assets  (19 658)  (142 728)

losses from realisation of financial assets  (11 583)  (14 708)

Administration expenses on financial assets  (1 205)  (987)

Total expenses from financial assets  (32 445)  (158 422)

net financial income  245 571  (51 388)

NET FINANCIAl INCOmE dIVIdEd By ASSETS ClASS

net income and  gains / (loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  108 919  73 992 

dividend  4 942  -   

Net gains / (loss) from equity and shares  74 526  (103 994)

Net gains / (loss) from bonds and other fixed income securities  58 389  (20 400)

Administration expenses  (1 205)  (987)

Total net income and gains / (loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  245 571  (51 388)

nOTE 19 EarnInGS PEr SharE

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year assigned to the company’s shareholders at a weighted average number 
of outstanding ordinary shares throughout the year, net of treasury shares.

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Profit for the year assigned to the company’s shareholders  198 630  (7 573)

Weighted average number of shares  82 584 944 82 584 944   

Earnings per share  2,41  (0,09)

diluted earnings per share
There were no share dilution in 2012 and 2011.
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nOTE 20  CaPITal raTIO and SOlVEnCy MarGIn 

[1.000 nOk] 2012 2011

Total equity  583 151  384 520 

Proposed dividend  (99 102)  -   

Natural perils fund (21 240) (30 958)

Guarantee scheme  (53 167)  (45 117)

Assets of tax  -    (3 302)

Intangible assets  (8 908)  (9 720)

Core capital   400 733  295 425 

Reinsurance provision   (15 664)  (11 264)

Subordinated loan  148 125  -   

net primary capital  533 194  284 161 

Assets with weighted risk of 0%  289 045  212 541 

Assets with weighted risk of 10%  -    60 013 

Assets with weighted risk of 20%  981 055  1 299 990 

Assets with weighted risk of 100%  2 486 554  1 214 238 

risk weighted total assets as at 31.12.  2 682 765  1 480 237 

Capital ratio 20 % 19 %

Net primary capital 533 194 284 161

Proportion of security provision 341 819 219 417   

Proportion of Natural perils fund (25%) 5 310 7 739

Solvency margin capital 880 323 511 317

Reduction of solvency margin capital,  § 8a 88 214 -

Solvency margin minimum requirement 260 882 233 034   

In excess of requirement 531 227 278 283

Solvency margin capital in percent of requirement 304 % 219 %

The subordinated loan was issued 29 march 2012 in order to strengthen the company’s capital adequacy during the expected significant 
growth in the company’s business. The loan was listed on Oslo ABm 22 October 2012. Table below provides a detailed overview of the loan.

Subordinated loan

Name Protector Forsikring ASA 12/22 FRN C SuB

Ticker PROTCT01 PRO

ISIN NO0010642127

Nominal value mNOK 150

Interest rate 3 months NIBOR + 600 bp p.a.

Issue date 29.03.2012

due date 19.04.2022

Callable yes
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Oslo, 8 march 2013
The Board of directors of Protector Forsikring ASA

 Translation – not to be signed 

  Jostein Sørvoll    Rolf Tolle    Else Bugge Fougner  
        (Chairman)

  Erik G. Braathen    Eva Redhe Ridderstad  Giuditta Cordero-moss 

  Jørgen Stang Heffermehl   Fredrik Øyan   marianne Kvanvik  

  Sverre Bjerkeli 
       (CEO)

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that the financial statements for the period 1st of January to 
31st of december 2012 have been prepared in accordance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the entity taken as a whole. We also confirm that the 
directors’ Report includes a true and fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
entity, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the entity.

dEClARATION By THE mEmBERS OF THE 
BOARd ANd THE CEO
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AudITOR’S REPORT
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CONTROl COmmITTEE’S STATEmENT
To the Board of Representatives’ and the Annual Shareholders’ meeting of Protector Forsikring ASA  

CONTROl COmmITTEE’S STATEmENT FOR 2012

The Control Committee has examined the company’s activities, including the Board’s disposition, and confirms that the 
company has followed the laws, regulations and provisions as well as the articles of association and resolutions passed 
by the company’s decision-making bodies.

The Control Committee has reviewed the Board of director’s proposals for the 2012 annual report and the audit report of 
8 march 2013. With reference to the audit report, the Control Committee recommends full acceptance of the submitted 
annual statement as Protector Forsikring ASA’s annual report for 2012.

Oslo, 11 march 2013
Translation - not to be signed

Anders J. lenborg  
(chair)

Thorvald m. Haraldsen Tore G. Clausen
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BOARd OF REPRESENTATIVES’ STATEmENT
To the Annual Shareholders’ meeting of Protector Forsikring ASA

THE BOARd OF REPRESENTATIVES’ STATEmENT FOR 2012

The Board of directors’ proposed annual report and the annual accounts, together with the auditor’s report and the Control 
Committee’s statement have, in the manner required by law, been presented to the Board of Representatives. The Board of 
Representatives recommends that the Annual General meeting approve the Board of directors proposed Annual Report and 
Accounts of Protector Forsikring ASA.

The Board of Representatives raises no objections to the Board’s proposal regarding the allocation of the profit for the year of 
Protector Forsikring ASA.

Oslo, 14 march 2013
Translation - not to be signed

Harald Elgaaen
Chair of the Board of Representatives
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BOARd OF REPRESENTATIVES, CONTROl 
COmmITTEE ANd NOmINATION COmmITTEE

BOard Of rEPrESEnTaTIVES

Harald Elgaaen (chair)
Per Ottar Skaaret (deputy Chairman)
Anders J. lenborg  
Cathrine Vinje muri
Edgar Ellingsen
Halgrim Thon 
Jan Eiler Fleischer
Knut Aspelin

deputies
Thorvald m. Haraldsen
Svein Garberg

Elected by employees
Atle Nikolaisen
Elisabeth Kaspersen
Karoline Winnæss
maria Pettersson

COnTrOl COMMITTEE

Anders J. lenborg (chair)  
Tore G. Clausen
Thorvald m. Haraldsen

deputy
Kaare Oftedal

nOMInaTIOn COMMITTEE

Truls Holthe (chair)
Nils Petter Hollekim 
Per Ottar Skaaret 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Protector Forsikring ASA is a Norwegian general insurance 
company (P&C) listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The com-
pany is required to hold a licence to engage in general insur-
ance and is subject to legislation for finance institutions that 
ensures strict regulation and follow-up of its business activities. 
The continuous monitoring of Norwegian finance institutions is 
covered by Norwegian laws and regulations and implemented 
by The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway.

rECOMMEndaTIOnS and rEGulaTIOnS COnCErnInG COr-
POraTE GOVErnanCE 
The company’s corporate governance complements the Board’s 
guidelines for the enterprise, cf. amongst others 6-16a of the 
Public limited Companies Act §6-12 and the Board’s instruc-
tions for executive management cf. the Public limited Compa-
nies Act §6-13. 

As a publicly listed company the annual report must account for 
its corporate governance, cf paragraph 7 “Continuing obliga-
tions for listed companies”. Following the same rules, the com-
pany is obligated to provide an explanation when the Norwegian 
Code of Governance is not followed.

Following the Accounting Act §3-3b, the company must in its 
annual report or documents being referred to in the annual 
report explain its principals and practices regarding corporate 
governance, including a justification for any deviation from the 
recommendations and regulation for corporate governance.

The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance is 
publicly available on NuESs website www.nues.no

Continuing obligations of listed companies is publicly available 
on the Oslo Stock Exchanges website www.oslobors.no

The company’s principles for corporate governance were first 
agreed by the Board 4 may 2007 and revised at a board meeting 
8 march 2013. The principles shall contribute towards creating 
the greatest possible return on investment for shareholders 
over time, strengthened confidence in the company through 

a transparent corporate culture, and a good reputation. To a 
large degree, the principles follow the laws and regulations by 
which the company is governed. In addition, they are based on 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance of 23 
October 2012.

The following presentation of corporate governance in Protec-
tor Forsikring mainly follows the general structure and form of 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance of 23 
October 2012.

COrE ValuES, EThICal GuIdElInES and SOCIal rESPOn-
SIBIlITy 
Protector sets out to challenge the established insurance com-
panies. The company will achieve this goal through unique busi-
ness relations (easy to do business with, competitive, reliable 
and trustworthy), good decision-making and cost-effective solu-
tions. Protector shall establish a reputation as a considerable 
and competent provider of risk-reducing solutions. Protector 
has defined 4 core values as the basis for developing a corpo-
rate culture and which will guide the day-to-day running of the 
business. These core values are: Trustworthy, Accommodative, 
Brave and Enthusiastic.

Trustworthy: Protector endeavours to develop competence at all 
levels, ensure that deadlines are kept, and that we are honest 
and upright in everything we do. By putting ourselves in the cli-
ent’s position we show that we take the client seriously and thus 
create confidence.

Accommodative: Protector’s employees shall be positive, open 
and flexible. This means that we look for opportunities, not 
problems, and are solution-oriented in everything we do.

Brave: Protector’s employees shall stand for what the com-
pany believes in. Each and every one is urged to exercise the 
decision-making powers at their disposal. We shall never avoid 
the truth, and shall be transparent and clear in all communica-
tions.
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Enthusiastic: Protector’s employees are urged to participate 
in company matters and take initiatives. We wish to provide a 
good and honourable service. We will achieve this by thoroughly 
getting to grips with cases and keeping the client continually 
informed. We shall also endeavour to give each other feedback 
internally.

Protector has established a set of ethical guidelines to govern 
what is acceptable behaviour for employees and others who 
represent the company. The aim of the guidelines is to create a 
solid corporate culture as well as look after Protector’s integrity 
by helping employees to exercise good business practice. The 
guidelines are also meant as a tool for evaluating our individual 
performances, as well as a means for developing our corporate 
identity.

Protector’s mission is to indemnify lives and assets and relieve 
the customers of economic risk, which is also our most impor-
tant social responsibility. Specific policies or measures related 
to Protector’s responsibility are not yet established, but it will be 
considered.

BuSInESS 
The articles of association describe the company’s business 
and objectives. Protector’s objective is to provide general 
insurance and reinsurance and the company has a licence to 
operate within all classes except classes 14 credit insurance 
and 5 guarantee insurance. The company’s prioritised market 
segments include the commercial and public sector and the 
market for affinity insurance. The company’s annual report pro-
vides more information about the company’s objectives, and the 
main features of its business strategy and activity. The articles 
of association can be found on the company’s website www.
protectorforsikring.no

SOlVEnCy CaPITal and dIVIdEndS 
The company has continuous focus on ensuring that the solven-
cy margin capital matches Protector’s objectives, strategy and 
risk profile. The company shall endeavour to optimize its capital 
while at the same time maintain sufficient capital to satisfy the 
regulatory capital requirements, shareholders’ confidence and 
flexibility for growth and development.

The Company’s dividend policy is to distribute 30-50% of the 
annual after-tax profit in a form of dividend, after taken into 
consideration the profit for the year, capital requirements inclu-
sive acceptable buffers and necessary flexibility for growth and 
development of the company. The company’s goal is to main-
tain a minimum solvency margin (calculated according to the 

regulations of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway) of 
at least 250%.

The Board is also authorized to repurchase 8,615,560 own 
shares. This corresponds to approximately 10% of the compa-
ny’s total share capital. This authority expires with the ordinary 
general meeting in 2013. The Board of directors’ will propose 
to the General Assembly that the authorization is renewed. At 
year-end 2012, the company has a holding of 3,570,661 own 
shares. 

The Board is authorised to increase share capital through the 
subscription of new shares with an aggregate nominal value 
of up to NOK 8,615,560 divided on 8,615,560 shares, each with 
a nominal value of NOK 1. The authorisation may be used for 
one or more share issues. The Board of directors may decide to 
deviate from the pre-emptive right of shareholders to subscribe 
for shares pursuant to section 10-4 of the Public limited li-
ability Companies Act. The Board of directors may decide that 
payment for the shares shall be effected in assets other than 
cash, or the right to subject the company to special obligations 
pursuant to section 10-2 of the Public limited liability Compa-
nies Act. The authorisation also applies to decisions to merge 
pursuant to section 13-5 of the Public limited liability Compa-
nies Act. 

This authorisation is valid until the Annual General meeting in 
2013. The Board will propose to the General Assembly that the 
authorisation is renewed. 

According to the Norwegian Code of Corporate Governance, 
the authorisation should be restricted to defined purposes. The 
Board wants a mandate that gives flexibility, thus the recom-
mendation is not followed.

Equal TrEaTMEnT Of SharEhOldErS and TranSaCTIOnS 
wITh ClOSE aSSOCIaTES 
The company has only one class of shares and all shareholders 
are treated equally. 

Existing shareholders have re-emption rights to subscribe for 
shares in the event of an increase in capital, unless the Board 
finds it expedient and in the interest of the shareholders to 
waive this right. If the Board proposes to the general meeting to 
waive this pre-emption right, then such a proposal must be fully 
justified. 

If the board of directors resolves to carry out an increase in 
share capital and waive the pre-emption rights of existing 
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shareholders on the basis of a mandate granted to the board, 
the justification shall be publicly disclosed in a stock exchange 
announcement issued in connection with the increase in share 
capital. Any transactions carried out by the company in its own 
shares shall be carried out through the stock exchange when-
ever possible. The company is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
under the ticker PROTCT.

The company has established rules for trading in the company’s 
shares by primary insiders or close associates of any such par-
ties (defined as transactions that involve shareholders, board 
members, executive managers, members of the control com-
mittee or auditor and close associates of these). There are also 
insider rules for other employees in the company. 

The company is generally reserved about transactions by 
shareholders, board members, executive managers and their 
close associates. To avoid damaging the company’s reputation, 
the Board believes it essential to be open and cautious about 
transactions that could be perceived as doubtful in terms of the 
closeness between the parties. The members of the board and 
management shall therefore give the board by the chairman 
written notification if they have significantly direct or indirect 
interests in transactions undertaken by the company. 

In general, the company will endeavour to follow the principles 
for equal treatment and transactions with close associates that 
are laid down in the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance.

frEEly nEGOTIaBlE SharES 
There is no restriction on negotiability of the company’s shares 
beyond the provisions of the Financial Institutions Act.

GEnEral MEETInGS 
Protector holds its AGm no later than the end of June each year. 
All shareholders with a known address receive written notice 
of the AGm by post, sent out no later than 21 days before the 
AGm. The notice calling the meeting and supporting papers are 
published on the company’s website 21 days before the general 
meeting. All shareholders are entitled to attend general meet-
ings, and arrangements are also made for proxy voting. The 
company should to the extent possible, prepare a form for the 
appointment of a proxy, which allows separate voting instruc-
tions to be given for each matter to be considered by the meet-
ing and for each of the candidates nominated for election. 

The Chairman of the board, the Chairman of the committee of 
representatives, the Chairman of the nomination committee 
and the auditor shall be present at the meeting. An independ-

ent chairman shall be elected to conduct the meeting. By this 
is meant that a chairman and his/her close associates (Public 
limited liability Companies Act § 1-5) must not have substan-
tial with by the general meeting concerned.

nOMInaTIOn COMMITTEE 
Protector’s articles of association regulate the company’s nomi-
nation committee, which has three members. The shareholders 
at the general meeting elect the members of the committee. 
The nomination committee is independent of the company’s 
board of directors and management, and its composition aims 
to ensure broad representation of shareholder interests. 

The nomination committee is responsible for proposing can-
didates to the board of representatives, the board of directors, 
the control committee and the nomination committee, and the 
remuneration of the members of these bodies. The committee 
must give reasons for their recommendations. The committee 
shall operate in accordance with the Norwegian Code of Prac-
tice for Corporate Governance.

BOard Of rEPrESEnTaTIVES 
The Board of Representatives in Protector is a legal require-
ment, and has 12 members, of which 8 are elected by the 
general meeting and 4 by the company’s employees. members 
are each elected for a two-year term of office so that half the 
members retire each year. It is a statutory requirement that 
the members elected by the general meeting shall reflect the 
company’s interest groups, customer structure and its function 
in society.

The duties of the board of representatives include making rec-
ommendations to the AGm on the Board’s proposal for the an-
nual report and accounts, electing the shareholder nominated 
directors, including the chairman and deputy chairman, to the 
board of directors, determining the fees paid to the directors, 
electing the company’s auditor and determining the auditor’s 
fee, issuing the mandate for the work of the control committee 
and considering reports from the control committee. The board 
of representatives is entitled to make recommendations to the 
board of directors on any matter.

ThE BOard Of dIrECTOrS 
According to the company’s articles of association the board of 
directors shall consist of minimum 3 and maximum 9 directors 
including the number of deputy directors decided by the board 
of representatives. The company’s employees shall appoint at 
least 1 member and one deputy director. If a director elected 
by the employees resigns from the company, the director shall 
resign from the board of directors. The directors of the board 
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of directors and the deputy directors are elected for two 2 – year 
terms. When retiring there will be a drawing of lots among 
those having served for an equal length of time. The Chairman 
of the board and deputy Chairman are elected for one year at a 
time.

The company’s intention with the composition of the company’s 
board is that the members are elected in light of an evaluation 
of the company’s needs for expertise, capacity and balanced 
decisions, and with an intention to ensure that the board can 
perform independent of any special interests and that the board 
can function effectively as a collegiate body. moreover, majority 
of the board members shall be independent of the company’s 
executive management and material business contacts. At least 
two of the board members elected by shareholders shall be 
independent of the company’s main shareholders. The board 
of directors shall not include representatives of the company’s 
executive management. 

An assessment of independence shall take into consideration 
whether the board member; has been employed in the compa-
ny, has share options in the company, has cross-relations with 
other board members or general management, has close fam-
ily links or otherwise has represented or represents material 
business relations with the company. Information about the in-
dividual board member’s qualifications, capacity and independ-
ence are given at pages 20-24. moreover, note 10 to the annual 
accounts states how many shares the individual shareholder 
owns in the company. members of the board are encouraged to 
buy shares in the company.

The nomination committee’s proposals for individuals as board 
members will be based on the above-mentioned guidelines. 

In the company’s opinion the current board of directors satisfies 
the requirements set by the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance to the members’ independence of the 
company’s executive management and material business rela-
tions.

COnTrOl COMMITTEE 
The Control Committee of Protector is a legal requirement, and 
has three members. The control committee shall ensure that 
the company carries out its business in an appropriate and re-
assuring manner in accordance with relevant laws, regulations 
and guidelines. The committee is entitled to look into any mat-
ter, and has access to all relevant documentation and informa-
tion. The committee has the power to demand information from 
any employee and any member of the company’s corporate 
bodies. The control committee has no decision making power.

ThE wOrk Of ThE BOard Of dIrECTOrS 
In accordance with Norwegian law, the board of directors has 
the ultimate responsibility for the management at the company 
and for supervising its day-to-day management and activities in 
general. In addition to the mandatory requirements, the board 
of directors shall operate in accordance with the company’s 
written instructions for the board. The instructions stipulate 
rules for administrative procedure, confidentiality, competency 
and responsibility for establishing a control system to ensure 
that the company is run in accordance with relevant laws and 
regulations. A deputy chairman shall be elected for the purpose 
of chairing the board in the event that the chairman cannot or 
should not lead the work of the board. In accordance with its 
instructions, the board of directors shall, to the extent it is nec-
essary, agree to strategies, business plans and budgets for the 
company. In addition, the board shall ensure that the company 
has a good management with a clear internal allocation of re-
sponsibilities and duties. In this connection, a set of instructions 
has been prepared for the CEO.

Each year, the board of directors agrees a concrete meeting 
and work plan for the following year. The plan includes strat-
egy work, other relevant business problems and control work. 
Further information about the work of the board of directors is 
provided in the directors’ report.

BOard COMMITTEES 
The Company shall, in accordance with Norwegian law have an 
audit committee. The Audit Committee consists of 3 members 
elected by and from the board members. The majority of the 
Audit Committee must be independent. The Audit Committee 
shall have the duties imposed by the Insurance Act §5-11.

The Board shall, in accordance with Norwegian law have a 
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee con-
sists of the Chairman of the board and two board members. The 
Committee shall be independent of the company management. 

The compensation committee shall prepare and present  
recommendations to the Board on the following:

•  The annual evaluation of and matters regarding salary and  
 other remuneration to the CEO.

•  Guidelines for and matters regarding salary and other  
 remuneration to senior executives.

•  declaration concerning the determination of salary and  
 other remuneration to senior executives (cf Public limited  
 Companies Act § 6-16a), including:
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  - Guidelines concerning the determination of salary and  
   other remuneration for the upcoming fiscal year.

  - An account of the remuneration policy that has been  
   conducted the previous fiscal year, including how the  
   guidelines for executive salaries have been conducted.

  - An account of the impact on the company and the  
   owners of implementation / changes to incentive  
   schemes linked to shares.

•  Other significant employment issues for senior executives

The board will not establish sub-committees beyond the legal 
requirements. The size of the board and the frequency of its 
meetings mean that such committees are not required.

rISk ManaGEMEnT and InTErnal COnTrOl 
The company is subject to strict requirements for risk man-
agement and internal control. This includes a requirement 
for an annual review of the company’s most important areas 
of exposure to risk and its internal control arrangements. In 
connection with the annual review of the company’s internal 
control, a complete assessment of all routines and procedures 
is implemented, including an updating of the risk to which the 
management believes the company is exposed and accompany-
ing control measures. As a finance institution the company is 
subject to Regulation no. 1057 of 20 June 1997 relating to the 
clarification of responsibility for control, documentation and 
review of the company’s internal control. The company has 
established routines that are in accordance with the regulation.

Protector’s internal control of financial reporting encompasses 
guidelines and procedures that ensure that accounts are pre-
pared according to the Accounting Act, regulations for annual 
accounts for insurance companies and good accounting prac-
tices and ensures a correct picture of the company’s operations 
and financial position.

rEMunEraTIOn Of ThE BOard Of dIrECTOrS 
The board of representatives determines the fees paid to the 
board of directors following a proposal from the nomination 
committee. The remuneration shall reflect the board’s respon-
sibility, expertise, time commitment and the complexity of the 
company’s business.

The board receives a fixed annual fee for its work, and has no 
share options. details of the amounts paid to the individual 
board members are provided in the annual report. As a rule, 
members of the board, or companies to whom they are linked, 

shall not take on assignments beyond the work done by the 
board for the company. If they nevertheless take on such as-
signments, they must inform the entire board. Substantial 
payments from the company over and above the fixed board 
fees shall be presented to the general meeting for approval. 
Information about the scope and costs linked to such work shall 
also be provided in that payments beyond the normal fee shall 
be specified separately in the annual report. The company does 
not give loans to members of the board of directors.

rEMunEraTIOn Of ThE EXECuTIVE ManaGEMEnT 
The Board’s statement of guidelines for  the pay and other 
remuneration of senior executives has been put forward to the 
General Assembly for the necessary approval every year since 
2007. The declaration is found in the notes to the annual accounts. 
The Board of directors sets the CEO’s salary and other benefits 
based on the recommendation of the Board’s compensation 
committee. The CEO sets terms and remuneration for other 
senior executives within guidelines approved by the Board. 
Further information concerning compensation, loans and 
share ownership of senior management is set out in note 17. 
The executive management is encouraged to buy shares in the 
company.

InfOrMaTIOn and COMMunICaTIOnS 
For the communication of financial and other price-sensitive 
information, the board of directors has based its policy on the 
requirements of the stock market regulations and provisions 
of the Acts relating to accounting and securities trading. In 
addition, Protector has a corporate culture based on openness, 
which means that all relevant information about the company’s 
business activity will be published on the company’s website, 
including annual and quarterly reports. Annual and quarterly 
reports are also made available via the Oslo Stock Exchange’s 
reporting system. The company also aims to provide open 
presentations in connection with the publishing of annual and 
quarterly reports. The company has a financial calendar on its 
homepage and will provide the same information via the Oslo 
Stock Exchange’s reporting system. This overview will contain 
the date for the annual general meeting as well as dates for the 
publishing of quarterly reports. With the presentation of com-
pany information for individual shareholders or other interested 
parties, only publicly available information is presented.

TakE-OVErS 
In the event of a take-over bid for the company, the board 
of directors shall evaluate the situation thoroughly and with 
consideration for the rules relating to equal treatment of all 
shareholders. The board shall gather all relevant information, 
including the views of the employees, in order to undertake 
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the best possible assessment of such an event. The board will 
thereafter give the individual shareholders the best possible 
advice with underlying information that ensures that each indi-
vidual shareholder is able to take a position on an eventual bid. 
The board’s statement on the offer shall make it clear whether 
the views expressed are unanimous, and if this is not

the case it shall explain the basis on which specific members of 
the board have excluded themselves from the board’s state-
ment. The board shall arrange a valuation from an independent 
expert. The valuation shall include an explanation, and shall be 
made public no later than at the time of the public disclosure of 
the board’s statement.

The board of directors will not seek to hinder or obstruct takeo-
ver bids for the company’s activities or shares unless there are 
particular reasons for this. 

Any transaction that is in effect a disposal of the company’s 
activities shall be decided by a general meeting. 

The company has no clauses that can exclude it from the 
restrictions under the Securities Trading Act § 6-17 concern-
ing “Restriction of the offeree company’s freedom of action” 
in a take-over process. Nor has the general meeting given the 
board of directors or CEO any special authority for use in such 
situations.

audITOr 
The auditor shall submit the main features of the plan for the 
audit of the company to the board of directors annually.

The auditor shall take part in meetings with the board of direc-
tors that deal with the annual accounts. At these meetings, the 
auditor shall review any material changes in the company’s 
accounting principles, comment on any material estimated ac-
counting figures and report all material matters on which there 
has been disagreement between the auditor and the executive 
management of the company.

The board of directors will meet the auditor at least once a 
year to go through a report on the auditor’s views on areas of 
risk, internal control routines, etc. The board shall arrange an 
annual meeting with the auditor that excludes the executive 
management.

Significant services beyond the statutory audit must be ap-
proved by the Board. 

Information about the auditor’s fees for a mandatory audit and 
other payments shall be presented to the board of representa-
tives and stated in the annual report.
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